

Title	An analysis of nonlinear partial differential equations: quasilinear elliptic problems and semilinear parabolic problems
Author(s)	Chandra, William Evan
Citation	大阪大学, 2022, 博士論文
Version Type	VoR
URL	https://doi.org/10.18910/89656
rights	
Note	

## Osaka University Knowledge Archive : OUKA

https://ir.library.osaka-u.ac.jp/

Osaka University

An analysis of nonlinear partial differential equations: quasilinear elliptic problems and semilinear parabolic problems

> EVAN WILLIAM CHANDRA SEPTEMBER 2022

## An analysis of nonlinear partial differential equations: quasilinear elliptic problems and semilinear parabolic problems

A dissertation submitted to THE GRADUATE SCHOOL OF ENGINEERING SCIENCE OSAKA UNIVERSITY in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY IN SCIENCE

## BY EVAN WILLIAM CHANDRA SEPTEMBER 2022

#### Abstract

This thesis is devoted to the study of quasilinear elliptic partial differential equations and the semilinear parabolic differential equations. Both elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations are known to have applications in various fields outside of mathematics. Hence, it is necessary to develop a deep understanding for the behavior of solutions to the aforementioned type of partial differential equations to develop a strong mathematical framework which can be useful for mathematical models used in science and engineering fields for practical purposes. We focus on quasilinear elliptic partial differential equations in Chapter 2 and proceed to focus on semilinear parabolic equations in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

The first study in Chapter 2 aims to establish the existence of functions which can be represented by its generalized mean value that is also known as *p*-mean value. Here, we use Perron's Method suitable for our problem to establish the existence of the aforementioned functions which are called (variationally) *p*-harmonious functions. The second aim of this study is to show the uniform convergence of *p*-harmonious functions to *p*-harmonic functions for game-theoretic *p*-Laplace equation. We obtain this result by using an appropriate approximation scheme. When p = 2, our results here revert to the asymptotic mean value property for harmonic functions.

The second study in Chapter 3 aims to obtain the blow-up rate of semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinear term under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition in an unbounded domain. We use variable transformation and parabolic argument to obtain our main results here. Moreover, we also extend the results from single equation case to a system of equations.

The third study in Chapter 4 aims to establish the existence of time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinearity under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition in a bounded smooth domain. We use the compactness of the orbit in scale-invariant Lebesgue space and blow-up argument to obtain our results. For single equation, this method is also applicable for the critical case in the sense of Sobolev embedding.

Finally, we give conclusions for each study and explain possible future research based on the results presented here in Chapter 5.

## Table of contents

$\mathbf{A}$	bstra	let	i
Τa	ble (	of contents	iii
1	Intr	roduction	1
	1.1	Background and motivation	1
	1.2	Thesis outline	8
<b>2</b>	Asy	mptotic mean value property for <i>p</i> -Laplace equations	10
	2.1	Introduction	10
	2.2	Existence and uniqueness of $p$ -harmonious functions	16
	2.3	Convergence of $p$ -harmonious functions $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	23
3 Blow-up rate of time-local solutions to a semilinear		w-up rate of time-local solutions to a semilinear heat equation	30
	3.1	Introduction and main results	30
	3.2	Preliminaries	34
	3.3	Proof of the main results	40
	3.4	Extension to a system of equations	47
4	$L^{\infty}$	Bounds for time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat	
	equ	ations	51
	4.1	Introduction and main result	51
	4.2	Preliminaries	56
	4.3	Proof of the main result	62
<b>5</b>	Cor	clusions and future problems	69
	5.1	Conclusions	69
	5.2	Future problems	70

Appendix	82
Acknowledgement	86
List of Publications	87

# Chapter 1 Introduction

## **1.1** Background and motivation

This thesis is devoted to the study of both elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations which are known to be useful to provide mathematical framework for modeling various diffusion and heat transfer phenomena in physics and engineering. In fact, both elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations have a wide range of applications in physics and engineering. For instance, diffusion phenomenon and heat transfer can be modeled by both elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations (see e.g. [24, Chapter 2, pp. 17]).

In the case of elliptic partial differential equations, Laplace equation is widely used in physics to model the density of some quantity in equilibrium which is usually independent of time. More generally speaking, Laplace equation and Poisson equation are used in electrostatics and Einstein's theory of relativity. For an example of the use of Laplace equation and Poisson equation in electrostatics, see [27, Chapter 12]. As for an application in Einstein's theory of relativity, Persides solves the Laplace equation in Schwarzschild's space-time by using separation of variables in [76].

From the point of view of mathematics, Laplace equation has several nice properties. Particularly, the solutions to Laplace equation (also known as harmonic functions) satisfy the so called mean value property. On the other hand, Laplace equation can be generalized further into *p*-Laplace equation by replacing the usual Laplace operator  $\Delta$  with *p*-Laplace operator. When  $p \in (1, \infty)$ , we can have the (formal) formulation of *p*-Laplace operator  $\Delta_p$  as follows:

$$\Delta_p u = \operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u).$$

Benedikt, Girg, Kotrla, and Takáč give a historical exposition for the origin of p-Laplace equation and its applications outside of pure mathematics in [10]. This essentially gives a motivation from the point of view of application to study p-Laplace equation (see [9, Section 5.2, 5.10, 5.11, and 9.4] and [23] for further readings).

Naturally, we are led to ask the question whether the solutions to *p*-Laplace equation satisfy mean value property at least asymptotically. This problem has garnered a lot of attentions from researchers recently starting from the work of Manfredi, Parviainen, and Rossi in [62]. However, they use a normalized version of *p*-Laplace operator which is also known as *game-theoretic* (or *homogeneous*) *p*-Laplace operator  $\Delta_p^G$ . Formally, game-theoretic *p*-Laplace operator can be defined as follows:

$$\Delta_p^G u = \frac{\operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u)}{|\nabla u|^{p-2}} \text{ for } p \in [1,\infty), \quad \Delta_\infty^G u = \frac{\langle \nabla^2 u \nabla u, \nabla u \rangle}{|\nabla u|^2}$$

where  $\nabla^2 u$  is the Hessian matrix of u. In fact, game-theoretic *p*-Laplace operator has an application in game theory. For further development of asymptotic mean value property of game-theoretic *p*-Laplace equation, see [61, 63, 79]. As for the applications in game theory, see [25, 39].

For parabolic differential equations, it is well-known for its application in heat transfer especially for general heat conduction which is described by the so called *Fourier-Biot equation* (see e.g. [58, pp. 49–98]). Other applications for parabolic equations can also be found in diffusion. Particularly, the so called *heat equations* (also *known as diffusion equations*)

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u$$

also appear in the study of Brownian motion (see [24, Chapter 2 pp. 44]).

From the point of view of mathematics, however, linear heat equations are relatively well-understood compared to nonlinear heat equations. Moreover, some natural phenomena cannot be described well by only using linear mathematical model. For instance, Bozzini, Monti, and Sgura use the so called *semilinear heat equations* to model Turing type electrochemical phase formation dynamics in [12]. Particularly, we are interested to study semilinear heat equations in the following form:

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u + f(u). \tag{1.1}$$

The existence of time-local solutions is typically obtained from fixed point argument (see e.g. [15, Section 5.2 pp. 64]). When  $f(u) = u|u|^{p-2}$  and  $p \in (2, 2^*)$  where  $2^*$  is the critical exponent in the sense of Sobolev embedding, there are various results related to the behavior of solutions of (1.1). For instance, it is well-known that

blow-up alternative occurs (see e.g. [15, Theorem 4.3.4 (ii), pp. 58]), i.e., time local solutions blow up in finite time under appropriate norm.

The natural question from blow-up alternative is to determine the blow-up rate of such solutions. For example, let us consider the following Dirichlet boundary problem:

$$\partial_t u = \Delta u - u |u|^{p-2}$$
 in  $\mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m)$  and  $u$  remains bounded as  $|x| \to \infty$ , (1.2)

where  $T_m$  denotes the maximal time existence of the solution itself. Giga and Kohn obtain the blow-up rate for the solutions to problem (1.2) which blows up in finite time in  $L^{\infty}$  (see [36]). Their results for blow-up rate can be written as follows:

**Theorem 1.1.1 (Blow-up rate, Theorem 3.1 in [36])** Assume  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  or N = 1, then we have

$$\sup_{\mathbb{R}^N \times [0,T_m)} (T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{p-2}} |u(x,t)| < \infty.$$

The theorem above tells us that the blow-up rate of the solution is controlled by p in the nonlinear term of (1.2). In fact, Giga and Kohn show that their results cover a system of semilinear heat equations and can be extended to a more general nonlinear term with polynomial principal term, see [36, Section 6 pp.30] for details. Thus, it is interesting to see whether we can find a nonlinearity without polynomial principal term which is not covered by Giga and Kohn in [36]. Additionally, we are interested to extend this result into a system of partial differential equations. These problems will be addressed in Chapter 2.

Another natural question from blow-up alternative is under what condition the solutions of (1.1) does not blow up in finite time. This leads us to consider under what kind of conditions that the solutions to (1.1) become time-global. Although we have been discussing blow-up in  $L^{\infty}$  up to this point, we are going to discuss the blow-up in  $H^1$  to approach the aforementioned problem from another point of view. First, we consider the following Dirichlet Boundary condition.

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u + u |u|^{p-2} & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(1.3)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded smooth domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  is the initial data which is chosen for simplicity. One of the methods to determine whether the solutions of (1.3) are time-local or time-global is the *potential well argument* which

was introduced by Payne and Sattinger in [73]. First, we begin with some energy functionals associated with (1.3) as follows:

$$I[u] = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p$$
(1.4)

and

$$J[u] = \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \|u\|_p^p.$$
(1.5)

for any  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Next, we define the *Nehari manifold* and *potential depth* respectively as follows:

$$\mathcal{N} := \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \, | \, J[u] = 0, \, u \neq 0 \}, \tag{1.6}$$

$$d := \inf_{u \in \mathscr{N}} I[u]. \tag{1.7}$$

It is not difficult to see that  $\mathscr{N}$  is not empty and d > 0. For details, see [73, pp.281–284]. Following this, we define the stable set and unstable set respectively as follows:

$$W^* = \{ u \in H^1_0(\Omega) \,|\, I[u] < d, J[u] > 0 \} \cup \{ 0 \}, \tag{1.8}$$

$$V^* = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \mid I[u] < d, J[u] < 0 \} \cup \{ 0 \}.$$
(1.9)

The following theorems given by Ikehata and Suzuki in [44] will give us a classification of solutions to (1.3).

**Theorem 1.1.2 (Theorem 3.1 in [44])** Let u be a time-local solution to the problem (1.3) with initial data  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Then, there exists a time  $t_0 \in [0, T_m)$  such that  $u(t_0) \in W^*$  if and only if  $T_m = \infty$  and  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|\nabla u(t)\|_2 = 0$ .

**Theorem 1.1.3 (Theorem 3.2 in [44])** Let u be a time-local solution to the problem (1.3) with initial data  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Suppose that either  $u_0 \ge 0$  or  $\Omega$  is a convex set. Then, there exists a time  $t_0 \in [0, T_m)$  such that  $u(t_0) \in W^*$  if and only if  $T_m = \infty$ and  $\lim_{t\to\infty} \|\nabla u(t)\|_2 = 0$ .

Both Theorem 1.1.2 and Theorem 1.1.3 imply that the solutions to (1.3) decay in  $H_0^1$ -norm as  $t \to \infty$  for sufficiently small initial data in the sense of  $H_0^1$ -norm and blow-up in finite time in  $H_0^1$ -norm as  $t \to T_m$  for sufficiently large initial data in the sense of  $H_0^1$ -norm. See Remark 3.3 in [44] for details.

On the other hand, there is a possibility that the solutions to (1.3) do not enter neither  $W^*$  nor  $V^*$ . At the very least, we know that when the initial data is positive or the domain is convex, any solution which does not enter neither  $W^*$  nor  $V^*$  is a time-global solution, see [44, Corollary 3.6, pp. 482]. However, we do not know the behavior of such a solution. The answer to this problem is known in one dimensional space at least when the spatial domain is  $\mathbb{R}_+$  for some initial data. In order to have a better understanding of the situation in one dimensional space, we will recall the results of Fašangová and Feireisl in [26].

Let us consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \partial_{xx} u + u |u|^{p-2} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}_+ \times (0, \infty), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}_+ \end{cases}$$
(1.10)

where  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$  with either a homogeneous Dirichlet or Neumann boundary condition at x = 0 as follows:

$$u(0, \cdot) = 0 \text{ in } (0, \infty)$$
 (1.11)

or

$$\partial_x u(0, \cdot) = 0 \text{ in } (0, \infty). \tag{1.12}$$

One of the reasons to only consider nonnegative solutions is due to the relevancy to applications such as models of heat propagation along a rod, population dynamics, and flame propagation in chemical reactor theory, see [3] for details.

Next, we consider a one dimensional semilinear elliptic equation as follows:

$$-w'' + w|w|^{p-2} = 0 \text{ in } \mathbb{R}, \quad w \in C_0(\mathbb{R}), \quad 0 \neq \max w = w(0).$$
(1.13)

The unique solution to the problem (1.13)  $w_g$  is also known as the ground state for (1.10).

Now, we are ready to consider the behavior of solutions to (1.10) which do not enter neither  $W^*$  nor  $V^*$ .

**Theorem 1.1.4** [See Theorem 1.1 and Remark in [26]] Suppose  $\bar{u} \in H_0^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$  is nonnegative, nondecreasing in  $[0, \gamma_0]$ , nonincreasing in  $[\gamma_0, \infty)$  for some positive number  $\gamma_0$ , and  $\bar{u} \neq 0$ . Then, there exists  $\lambda_N$ ,  $\lambda_D$ , and  $\lambda_{D'}$  where  $0 < \lambda_N < \lambda_D \leq \lambda_{D'} < \infty$ such that if  $u^D$  (or  $u^N$  respectively) is a solution to (1.10) and (1.11) (or (1.12) respectively) with the initial condition

$$u(0) = \lambda \bar{u},$$

then we have

(i) if 
$$0 \le \lambda < \lambda_D$$
 (or  $0 \le \lambda < \lambda_N$  respectively), then  

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} u^D(t) = 0 \text{ (or } \lim_{t \to \infty} u^N(t) = 0 \text{ respectively) in } H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+); \quad (1.14)$$

(ii) if  $\lambda = \lambda_N$ , then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} u^N(t) = w_g \text{ in } H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+);$$
 (1.15)

(iii) if  $\lambda \in [\lambda_D, \lambda_{D'}]$ , then there exists a function y(t), independent of  $\lambda$ , satisfying  $\lim_{t \to \infty} y(t) = \infty$ , such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} [u^D(\cdot, t) - w_g(\cdot - y(t))] = 0 \text{ in } H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+),$$
(1.16)

where  $w_g$  is the ground state;

(iv) if  $\lambda > \lambda_N$ , then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} u^N(t) = \infty \ in \ H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+); \tag{1.17}$$

(v) if  $\lambda > \lambda_{D'}$ , then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} u^D(t) = \infty \text{ in } H^1_0(\mathbb{R}_+).$$
(1.18)

Roughly speaking, the solution with medium size initial data in the sense of  $H^{1}$ norm converges to a traveling pseudo-wave of the ground state function as  $t \to \infty$ . This relation connects the notion of parabolic partial differential equations with elliptic partial differential equations from mathematical point of view. Certainly, intuitively speaking, elliptic differential equations, particularly Laplace equation and Poisson equation can be regarded as the steady-state of a certain semilinear heat equation. The work of Fašangová and Feireisl in [26] emphasizes the connection between parabolic and elliptic partial differential equations. Unfortunately, we still do not have a clear criterion for time-global solutions in higher spatial dimension up to this point. This leads us to the following problem.

Let  $N \geq 3$ ,  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  be a bounded smooth domain,  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ , and  $p \in (2, 2^*]$  where  $2^*$  is the critical Sobolev exponent in the sense of Sobolev embedding. Consider the following semilinear heat equations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u + \lambda u + u |u|^{p-2} & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \Omega \end{cases}$$
(1.19)

where the initial data  $u_0 \in H_0^1(\Omega) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  for simplicity and  $T_m$  is the maximal time existence of solution. We only consider time-global solution, i.e.,  $T_m = \infty$ . Here, we say that the time-global solution to (1.19) has an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bound if and only if

$$\sup_{t\in[0,\infty)}\|u(t)\|_{\infty}<\infty$$

In one dimensional spatial space, the compact Sobolev embedding  $H_0^1(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$  allows us to obtain  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds from the boundedness of time-global solutions in  $H^1$ -norm. Unfortunately, the lack of compact embedding in higher dimensions becomes a major issue to establish the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds. For subcritical case, i.e.,  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ , a lot of works have been put into the existence of  $L^{\infty}$  time-global bounds, see e.g. [16, 71, 37, 77, 34]. However, the method being used in the aforementioned results rely on the subcriticality of the nonlinear term. Hence, another framework which can unify and cover both subcritical and critical case is necessary.

Ishiwata suggests a different method in [47] which is based on the compactness of the solution orbit in the scale-invariant Lebesgue space and the blow-up argument. Particularly, he obtains the necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for time-global solutions to the problem (1.19). Before we cite his result concerning  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds, we will need some mathematical notions from variational analysis (see [85] and [89] for reference).

First, we define the energy functionals associated with (1.19) as follows:

$$\tilde{I}[u] = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} \|u\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{p} \|u\|_p^p$$
(1.20)

for any  $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ . Next, we introduce the notion of *Palais-Smale sequence*, see [85, pp. 70] for reference. Let

$$\mathscr{S} := \{ u(t) \, | \, t \in [0,\infty) \}$$

be the orbit of solutions to the problem (1.19) and a subset of  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ . A sequence  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathscr{S}$  is said to be a *Palais-Smale sequence of*  $\tilde{I}$  at level L in  $\mathscr{S}$  (denoted as  $(PS)_L$  sequence in  $\mathscr{S}$ ) if it satisfies

- (PS1)  $\tilde{I}[u_n] \to L \text{ as } n \to \infty$ ,
- (PS2)  $(d\tilde{I})_{u_n} \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$  in  $(H_0^1(\Omega))^*$  where  $(d\tilde{I})_{u_n}$  is the Fréchet derivative of  $\tilde{I}$  at  $u_n$  in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$  and  $(H_0^1(\Omega))^*$  denotes the dual space of  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

Following this, we introduce the *Palais-Smale condition*. The energy functional I is said to satisfy *Palais-Smale condition at level* L in  $\mathscr{S}$  (denoted as  $(PS)_L$  condition in  $\mathscr{S}$ ) if and only if

every  $(PS)_L$  sequence in  $\mathscr{S}$  has a strong convergence subsequence in  $H_0^1(\Omega)$ .

Now, we will cite the main result in [47].

**Theorem 1.1.5 (Theorem 2.1 in [47])** Let  $p \in (2, 2^*]$ . Then, for every timeglobal solution to (1.19), the following two statements are equivalent.

- (a) The energy functional  $\tilde{I}$  satisfies the  $(PS)_L$  condition in  $\mathscr{S}$ .
- (b) The time-global solution u to the problem (1.19) has an L<sup>∞</sup>-global bounds, i.e., sup ||u(t)||<sub>∞</sub> < ∞. t∈[0,∞)

Particularly, when p is subcritical in the sense of Sobolev embedding, the timeglobal solution to (1.19) has an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds by [47, Corollary 2.1, pp. 1025]. Moreover, when  $p = 2^*$ , an example of the situation in which the time-global solution has an an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds is also given by Ishiwata in [47, Corollary 2.2 and Remark 2.1, pp. 1025]. It is also confirmed that there exists an unbounded timeglobal solution which means the solution does not have an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds in [47, Corollary 2.4, pp. 1026].

As a natural progression, we are interested in obtaining a similar result for a system of semilinear heat equations with more general nonlinearity. This problem will be discussed in Chapter 4.

### **1.2** Thesis outline

This thesis aims to analyze and to study the behavior of solutions to quasilinear elliptic and semilinear parabolic partial differential equations. Particularly for the quasilinear elliptic partial differential equations, we want to investigate the relation between a function which satisfies a generalized mean value property and a solution to game-theoretic *p*-Laplace equation. As for the semilinear parabolic differential equations, we have two aims in this thesis. The first aim is to find the blow-up rate of a certain type of semilinear heat equation which can be extended into a system of equations with nonlinearity which is not covered by Giga and Kohn in [36] with  $\mathbb{R}^N$ as the spatial domain. Finally, the last aim is to establish the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for a system of semilinear heat equations with a more general nonlinear term based on the method proposed by Ishiwata in [47].

Chapter 1 serves as an introduction which explains our research background and motivation. Moreover, we also briefly mention several examples of applications of elliptic and parabolic partial differential equations especially in physics and engineering to emphasize the importance of our research. We also discuss several important results which are related to the aims of this thesis.

Chapter 2 is devoted to the study quasilinear elliptic differential equations in the form of game-theoretic p-Laplace equation. Particularly, we are interested to find a generalization of mean value property which holds for harmonic functions in the form of asymptotic mean value property. There are two important results in this chapter. First, we establish the existence of functions which satisfies generalized mean value property which is called as (variationally) p-harmonious functions. The second result is to establish the relation between a p-harmonious function and the solution to game-theoretic p-Laplace equation (also known as p-harmonic function) by using an approximation scheme developed by Barles and Souganidis in [8].

Chapter 3 is devoted to the study of semilinear heat equations in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . To be more precise, we are interested in analyzing the blow-up rate of a semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinear term under the Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We mainly use similar variable transformation and parabolic argument to obtain the main results in this chapter. Finally, we extend our results to a system of semilinear heat equations in the last section of this chapter.

Chapter 4 is devoted to the study of a system of semilinear heat equations in a bounded smooth domain. We use the method developed by Ishiwata in [47] to establish the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for the time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinearity under the Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition. Our method is also applicable to the system with a critical nonlinearity which is a subject of the forthcoming paper.

Finally, we discuss the conclusion for each chapter and the possible future direction of the research contained in this thesis in Chapter 5.

## Chapter 2

## Asymptotic mean value property for *p*-Laplace equations

This chapter focuses on quasilinear elliptic partial differential equations in the form of p-Laplace equations. Furthermore, the content presented here has been published in [17].

### 2.1 Introduction

In this study, we introduce and study (variationally) *p*-harmonious functions in order to show that asymptotic mean value property holds for quasilinear elliptic partial differential equation in the form of *p*-Laplace equation. First, we define the *p*-mean of a function  $u \in L^p(\Omega)$  as a real number  $\nu_p[u]$  such that

$$||u - \nu_p[u]||_p = \min_{\nu \in \mathbb{R}} ||u - \nu||_p$$
(2.1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$   $(N \ge 2)$  and  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . The existence and uniqueness of  $\nu_p[u]$  are guaranteed for 1 because it is a projection of <math>uon the subspace of constant functions. For p = 1 we need to assume the continuity of u on  $\Omega$  to guarantee the uniqueness of  $\nu_1[u]$ . When  $p \in [1, \infty)$ ,  $\nu_p[u]$  can be characterized as the unique root of the equation

$$\int_{\Omega} |u - \nu|^{p-2} (u - \nu) dx = 0$$
(2.2)

as shown by Ishiwata, Magnanini, and Wadade in [46]. In fact, Ishiwata, Magnanini, and Wadade have also obtained the explicit formulas of  $\nu_p[u]$  when  $p = 1, 2, \infty$  in

their aforementioned paper as follows:

$$\nu_1[u] = \underset{\Omega}{\operatorname{med}} u, \quad \nu_2[u] = \int_{\Omega} u(x) dx, \quad \text{and} \quad \nu_{\infty}[u] = \frac{1}{2} \left( \underset{\Omega}{\min} u + \underset{\Omega}{\max} u \right).$$

Let  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We proceed to introduce the operator  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$  which acts on a continuous function  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  by the rule

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x) = \nu_p^{r_{\varepsilon}(x)}[u](x) \text{ for any } x \in \overline{\Omega},$$
(2.3)

where  $\nu_p^r[u]$  is the *p*-mean of *u* on a ball B(x, r) with radius *r* centered at  $x \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $r_{\varepsilon}(x) = \min\{x, \operatorname{dist}(x, \partial\Omega)\}$  for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Next, we consider the following Dirichlet problem:

$$\begin{cases} u = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u] & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = g & \text{on } \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

where the boundary condition  $g \in C(\partial \Omega)$ .

When p = 2, the Dirichlet problem (2.4) becomes mean value property for harmonic functions. In the context of heat distribution, we can interpret the mean value property for harmonic functions in the following statement. Given any point  $x \in \Omega$ , the temperature u(x) at x can be represented by the average temperature of a ball centered at x for any radius r sufficiently small to be contained inside  $\Omega$  (see e.g. Evans [24] and Strauss [84]). A harmonic function which satisfies mean value property is called as *harmonious function*. In this study, we say that a function u is p-harmonious if and only if

$$u = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u]$$
 in  $\Omega$ .

Thus, it is natural to ask whether mean value property (asymptotically) holds for our p-mean or not and whether p-harmonious functions have any relation to p-harmonic functions or not when  $p \neq 2$ .

We will clarify the precise meaning of *p*-harmonicity. We begin by introducing the game-theoretic (homogeneous) *p*-Laplacian denoted by  $\Delta_p^G$  which is (formally) defined as follows:

$$\Delta_p^G u := \frac{1}{p} \Delta u + \frac{(p-2)}{p} \frac{\langle \nabla^2 u \nabla u, \nabla u \rangle}{|\nabla u|^2}$$
(2.5)

where  $\nabla^2 u$  is the Hessian matrix of u. Particularly, when  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , we have

$$\Delta_p^G u = \frac{1}{p} \frac{\operatorname{div}(|\nabla u|^{p-2} \nabla u)}{|\nabla u|^{p-2}},$$
(2.6)

whereas

$$\Delta_{\infty}^{G} u = \frac{\langle \nabla^2 u \nabla u, \nabla u \rangle}{|\nabla u|^2}$$
(2.7)

by taking the limit  $p \to \infty$  in (2.5). We observe that  $\Delta_p^G$  is uniformly elliptic but it has discontinuous coefficients and is not variational. Thus, we say a function u is *p*-harmonic (in the viscosity sense) if and only if

$$\Delta_p^G u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega$$

Following this, we can consider the following Dirichlet problem:

$$\begin{cases} \Delta_p^G u = 0 & \text{in } \Omega, \\ u = g & \text{on } \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

Here, we understand the solution to Dirichlet problem (2.8) as a viscosity solution. Notice that the viscosity solution of (2.8) coincides with the weak solution of *p*-Laplace equation below:

$$\Delta_p u = 0 \text{ in } \Omega, \quad u = g \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

See [49] for further details.

There are a lot of reseachers who are interested in the study of *p*-mean values. For example, Hartenstine and Rudd in [41] also propose a *p*-mean value which is based on the median of a function. However, their *p*-mean value only produces asymptotic mean value property when N = 2. Kawohl, Manfredi, and Parviainen in [50] also develops their own version of *p*-mean value which produces asymptotic mean value property for  $N \ge 2$ . Notice that our *p*-mean value defined in (2.3) does not coincide with the other two versions of *p*-mean value mentioned above. In fact, our *p*-mean value has several nice properties such as continuity, monotonicity, additivity with constants, and homogeneity (see Theorem 2.4, Theorem 2.5, and Proposition 2.7 (i) and (ii) respectively in [46]).

We summarize the content of this chapter as follows. First, we introduce important definitions and some basic tools which are useful in Section 2.1. Next, we will show the existence and uniqueness for *p*-harmonious functions which satisfy Dirichlet problem (2.4) in Section 2.2 by using a modified Perron's method. Finally, we will show that our *p*-harmonious function converges to *p*-harmonic function in Section 2.3 by using a convergence scheme developed by Barles and Souganidis (see [8]).

### 2.1.1 Preliminaries

We begin this subsection by showing the continuity of  $\nu_p$ . For similar result, see (Theorem 2.4, [46]).

**Lemma 2.1.1 (Continuity of**  $\nu_p$ ) Let  $p \in (1, \infty)$ ,  $u \in L^p(\Omega)$ , and  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of measurable functions which converge to u a.e. in  $\Omega$ . Suppose that either one of the following statements hold:

- (i) The sequence  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is increasing and nonnegative in  $\Omega$ .
- (ii) There exists a function  $v \in L^p(\Omega)$  such that  $|u_n| \leq v$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Then  $\nu_p[u_n] \to \nu_p[u]$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

**Proof of Lemma 2.1.1.** (i) Set  $\nu_n = \nu_p[u_n]$  and  $\nu = \nu_p[u]$ . Then  $(\nu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  either converges or diverges to  $+\infty$  since  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is an increasing sequence and  $\nu_p$  is monotone. For simplicity we let  $\bar{\nu}$  be the limit of  $(\nu_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ . By the monotonicity of  $\nu_p$  and the fact that  $u_n \leq u$  (for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ), we have  $\bar{\nu} \leq \nu$ . It remains to show that  $\bar{\nu} \geq \nu$ holds. In order to see this, observe that

$$0 = \int_{\Omega} |u_n - \nu_n|^{p-2} (u_n - \nu_n) dx \ge \int_{\Omega} |u_n - \bar{\nu}|^{p-2} (u_n - \bar{\nu}) dx,$$

since the mapping  $s \mapsto |t-s|^{p-2}(t-s)$  is decreasing and  $\nu_n \leq \bar{\nu}$ . In addition, the integrand in the right-hand side of the last inequality is bounded from below by the number  $-|\bar{\nu}|^{p-2}\bar{\nu}$ . Hence, we can apply Monotone Convergence Theorem to pass the limit inside the integral to obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} |u - \nu|^{p-2} (u - \nu) dx = 0 \ge \int_{\Omega} |u - \bar{\nu}|^{p-2} (u - \bar{\nu}) dx.$$

The inequality above together with the fact that the mapping  $s \mapsto |t-s|^{p-2}(t-s)$  is decreasing imply  $\bar{\nu} \geq \nu$ . Hence, the proof is complete.

(ii) The assumptions in (ii) allow us to use Dominated Convergence Theorem so that we obtain  $u_n \to u$  in  $L^p(\Omega)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Then, the conclusion follows from Theorem 2.4 in [46].

**Remark 2.1.1** The conclusion of Lemma 2.1.1 remains valid for p = 1 when we assume further that  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset L^1(\Omega) \cap C(\Omega)$  and  $u \in L^1(\Omega) \cap C(\Omega)$ .

When  $p = \infty$ , if assumption (i) holds,  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset C(\Omega)$ , and  $u \in C(\Omega)$ , then the conclusion of Lemma 2.1.1 holds. Moreover, if  $u_n \to u$  uniformly in  $\Omega$  as  $n \to \infty$ , the conclusion of Lemma 2.1.1 also holds.

For the monotonicity of  $\nu_p$ , the result has been obtained by Ishiwata, Magnanini, and Wadade in [46, Theorem 2.5]. The following lemma improves their aforementioned result.

**Lemma 2.1.2 (Strict monotonicity of**  $\nu_p$ ) Let  $u_1, u_2 \in L^p(\Omega)$  and  $\omega \subset \Omega$  where  $|\omega| > 0$ . Assume that

 $u_1 \leq u_2$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $u_1 < u_2$  a.e. in  $\omega$ .

Then,  $\nu_p[u_1] < \nu_p[u_2]$ . Particularly, if  $u_1 \leq u_2$  a.e. in  $\Omega$  and  $\nu_p[u_1] = \nu_p[u_2]$ , then we have  $u_1 = u_2$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ .

**Proof of Lemma 2.1.2.** When  $p = \infty$ , the result follows from an inspection. On the other hand, when  $p \in [1, \infty)$ , the assumptions on  $u_1$  and  $u_2$ , and the fact that the mapping  $t \mapsto |t - \nu|^{p-2}(t - \nu)$  is strictly increasing in  $t \in \mathbb{R}$  give that

$$\int_{\omega} |u_1 - \nu|^{p-2} (u_1 - \nu) dx < \int_{\omega} |u_2 - \nu|^{p-2} (u_2 - \nu) dx$$

for any  $\nu$ . The same result as the inequality above holds when  $\omega$  is replaced with  $\Omega$ . Thus, the conclusion of this lemma follows from the characterization of  $\nu_p$  in (2.2).

Corollary 2.1.1 (Monotonicity of  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$ ) Assume  $u_1, u_2 \in L^p(\Omega)$  when p > 1, and  $u_1, u_2 \in L^p(\Omega) \cap C(\Omega)$  when p = 1. If  $u_1 \leq u_2$  a.e. in  $\Omega$ , then  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1] \leq \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_2]$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Additionally, we have  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1] < \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_2]$  whenever the set

$$\{x \in B(x, r(x)) \mid u_1(x) < u_2(x)\}\$$

has a positive measure.

Next, we show that  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$  acts naturally on  $USC(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ .

**Proposition 2.1.1 (Invariance semicontinuity property)** Let  $u \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$  (or  $USC(\overline{\Omega})$  respectively). Then, we have  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u] \in LSC(\overline{\Omega}) \cap C(\Omega)$  (or  $USC(\overline{\Omega}) \cap C(\Omega)$ ) respectively).

**Proof of Proposition 2.1.1.** For the sake of brevity, we will only prove for the lower semicontinuous case. We begin by showing that  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u] \in C(\Omega)$ . First, we fix  $x \in \Omega$  and  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Omega$  such that  $x_n \to x$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Let us define  $v_x : B(0,1) \to \mathbb{R}$  as follows:

$$v_x(z) := u(x + r_\varepsilon(x)z) \text{ for any } z \in B(0,1).$$
(2.9)

Since  $u \in L^p_{loc}(\Omega)$  and  $r_{\varepsilon}$  is continuous, we deduce that  $v_{x_n} \to v_x$  in  $L^p(B(0,1))$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Therefore, [46, Theorem 2.4] gives that  $\nu_p[v_{x_n}] \to \nu_p[v_x]$  as  $n \to \infty$  which means  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x_n) \to \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

It remains to prove the desired semicontinuity on  $\partial\Omega$ . We start the part of this proof by taking any sequence  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\overline{\Omega}$  and  $x\in\partial\Omega$  with  $x_n\to x$  as  $n\to\infty$ . Since  $\overline{\Omega}$  is a compact set, u attains its minimum  $m>-\infty$ . Next, we proceed as before and consider the function  $v_x$  in (2.9).  $v_{x_n}$  is well-defined when  $x_n\in\Omega$ . When  $x_n\in\partial\Omega$ , we let  $v_{x_n}=u(x_n)$ . By additivity with constants, we have

$$\nu_p[v_{x_n}] = \nu_p[v_{x_n} - m] + m$$

By using the relation above together with the fact that  $v_{x_n} \ge m$ , we may assume  $v_{x_n} \ge 0$  for simplicity. Following this, we use the semicontinuity of u and the continuity of  $r_{\varepsilon}$  to infer

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} v_{x_n}(z) \ge v_x(z) \text{ for any } z \in B(0,1).$$

Now, we also have

$$\inf_{k \ge n} v_{x_k} \to \liminf_{n \to \infty} v_{x_n} \text{ in } B(0,1) \text{ as } n \to \infty,$$

and the convergence is motone increasing. Hence, we may apply Lemma 2.1.1 (i) to obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \nu_p \left[ \inf_{k \ge n} v_{x_k} \right] = \nu_p \left[ \liminf_{n \to \infty} v_{x_n} \right].$$

Note that the relation above also holds even if there are infinitely many terms of  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  on  $\partial\Omega$ .

Thus, we conclude

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x_n) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \nu_p[v_{x_n}] \ge \liminf_{n \to \infty} \nu_p\left[\inf_{k \ge n} v_{x_k}\right]$$
$$= \nu_p\left[\liminf_{n \to \infty} v_{x_n}\right] \ge \nu_p[v_x] = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x).$$

Therefore,  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u] \in LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ . The proof for the upper semicontinuous case follows similarly.

**Proposition 2.1.2** Let  $\phi \in C^2(\Omega)$ . Then, for any bounded open set  $\omega \subset \Omega$  with  $\overline{\omega} \subset \Omega$  and such that  $\nabla \phi \neq 0$  in  $\overline{\omega}$ , it holds that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[\phi] - \phi}{r_{\varepsilon}^2} = \frac{p}{2(N+p)} \Delta_p^G \phi \text{ uniformly in } \overline{\omega}.$$
 (2.10)

**Proof of L.**et  $x_{\varepsilon}$  be a point in  $\overline{\omega}$  maximizing the difference

$$\left|\frac{\mu_p^\varepsilon[\phi]-\phi}{r_\varepsilon^2}-\frac{p}{2(N+p)}\Delta_p^G\phi\right|$$

in  $\overline{\omega}$ . Then, we have  $x_{\varepsilon} \to x$  up to a subsequence for some  $x \in \overline{\omega}$ , and hence  $r_{\varepsilon}(x_{\varepsilon}) \to 0$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . The conclusion then follows from Theorem 3.2 in [46].

### Remark 2.1.2 (Examples of *p*-harmonious functions)

(i) It is obvious that constant functions are *p*-harmonious. (ii) Let  $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $x_1 \in \Omega$ ,  $a(x) = \langle \xi, x \rangle + c$  be an affine function in  $\Omega$ , and  $a_{x_1}(x) = \langle \xi, x - x_1 \rangle$ . Then, we see that

$$a(x) = a_{x_1}(y) + \langle \xi, x_1 \rangle + c$$
 for any  $x \in \Omega$ .

Let r > 0. It is easy to see that  $\nu_p[a_{x_1}](x_1) = 0$  over any ball  $B(x_1, r)$  by the central symmetry of  $a_{x_1}$  with respect to  $x_1$  and (2.2). Therefore, we conclude that

$$\nu_p[a](x_1) = \nu_p[a_{x_1}](x_1) + \nu_p[\langle \xi, x_1 \rangle + c](x_1) = \langle \xi, x_1 \rangle + c = a(x_1)$$

over any ball  $B(x_1, r)$ . Thus, it is clear that  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[a] = a$ , which means a is p-harmonious.

## 2.2 Existence and uniqueness of *p*-harmonious functions

In this section, we will prove the existence and uniqueness of p-harmonious functions by using a modified Perron's Method. First, we will introduce the notion of (variationally) p-subharmonious and p-superharmonious functions.

**Definition 2.2.1 (p-subharmonious and p-superharmonious functions)** A function  $u \in C(\Omega)$  is said to be (variationally) p-subharmonious (or p-superharmonious respectively) whenever

$$u \leq \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u]$$
 (or  $u \geq \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u]$  respectively) in  $\Omega$ .

**Remark 2.2.1** (i) By observing Remark 2.1.2 (ii), we can also deduce that convex (or concave respectively) functions are *p*-subharmonious (or *p*-superharmonious respectively).

(ii) Fix  $\alpha > 0$  and set  $\gamma_{\alpha}(x) = |x|^{-\alpha}$  for  $x \neq 0$ . Then,  $\gamma_{\alpha} \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  when  $\alpha p < N$  and  $\gamma_{\alpha} \in L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\})$  for any  $p \in [1, \infty]$ . Next, let  $\Delta^G_p \phi$  as the game-theoretic *p*-Laplacian of a smooth function away from its critical points. We easily compute

$$\Delta_p^G \gamma_\alpha(x) = \frac{\alpha[\alpha(p-1) + p - N]}{p} |x|^{-\alpha+2} \text{ for any } x \neq 0.$$

By applying formula (3.6) of Theorem 3.2 in [46], we obtain

$$\frac{\gamma_{\alpha}(x) - \nu_p^r[\gamma_{\alpha}](x)}{r^2} = -\frac{\alpha[\alpha(p-1) + p - N]}{2(N+p)} |x|^{-(\alpha+2)} + o(1)$$

as  $r \to 0$ . Now, we let  $\Omega$  be bounded open set such that  $\overline{\Omega}$  does not contain the origin. Depending on the sign of  $\alpha(p-1) + p - N$ , there exists  $r_{\Omega} > 0$  such that the inequality

$$\gamma_{\alpha} \ge \nu_p^r[\gamma_{\alpha}] \text{ or } \gamma_{\alpha} \le \nu_p^r[\gamma_{\alpha}]$$

is satisfied uniformly in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Therefore, for  $r \in (0, r_{\Omega}), \gamma_{\alpha}$  is *p*-subharmonious in  $\Omega$  if

$$p > \frac{\alpha + N}{\alpha + 1},$$

and *p*-superharmonious in  $\Omega$ , if

$$p < \frac{\alpha + N}{\alpha + 1}$$

Particularly, when  $p = \frac{\alpha + N}{\alpha + 1}$ , we get the fundamental solution to *p*-Laplacian.

#### Proposition 2.2.1 (Weak comparison principle)

Let  $u, v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  be p-subharmonious and p-superharmonious functions in  $\Omega$  respectively. If  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , then  $u \leq v$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof of Proposition 2.2.1.** We argue by contradiction. Assume the conclusion does not hold. We have  $u - v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  and thus it attains its maximum M > 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Since  $u \leq v$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , the following set

$$A = \left\{ x \in \Omega \,|\, u(x) - v(x) = M \right\}$$

has at least one point  $x_0$ . Since  $u - v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  and  $\{M\}$  is a closed set, then A must be a closed set.

Next, we will show that A is an open set. To see this, we take any  $x \in A$  and observe that

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u-M](x) \le \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[v](x) \le v(x)$$

since  $u - M \leq v$  in  $\Omega$  by the definition of M and v is p-superharmonious. Thus, we deduce that

$$v(x) \ge \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u - M](x) = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u](x) - M \ge u(x) - M = v(x)$$

since u is p-subharmonious in  $\Omega$ . Particularly,

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[v](x) = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u - M](x)$$

which means

$$v = u - M$$
 in  $B(x, r_{\varepsilon}(x))$ 

in view of Lemma 2.1.2. In other words,  $B(x, r_{\varepsilon}(x)) \subset A$  for any  $x \in A$  and hence A is an open set.

Finally, we recall that  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  which means it is a connected set. Thus,  $A = \Omega$  and  $u - v \equiv M$  in  $\Omega$ . By continuity, we deduce that  $M \equiv u - v$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . Thus, this leads to a contradiction since  $0 < M \leq 0$ .

By following similar argument as above, we can obtain the following strong comparison principle.

#### Corollary 2.2.1 (Strong comparison principle)

Let  $u, v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  be a p-subharmonious and p-superharmonious functions in  $\Omega$  respectively. If  $u \leq v$  in  $\Omega$ , then either u < v in  $\Omega$  or  $u \equiv v$  in  $\Omega$ .

**Proof of Corollary 2.2.1.** Assume u - v = 0 at some point in  $\Omega$ . Then, we repeat the argument in the proof of Proposition 2.2.1 with

$$A = \{x \in \Omega \,|\, u(x) - v(x) = 0\} \text{ and } M = 0.$$

Then, we proceed to deduce that A is non-empty, closed, and open. Since  $\Omega$  is connected, we deduce that  $A = \Omega$ . Therefore,  $u \equiv v$  in  $\Omega$ .

Now, we fix a function  $g \in C(\partial \Omega)$  to define two classes of continuous functions as follows:

$$S_g := \left\{ v \in C(\overline{\Omega}) \,|\, v \text{ is } p \text{-subharmonious in } \Omega \text{ and } v \le g \text{ on } \partial \Omega \right\}$$
(2.11)

and

$$S^{g} := \left\{ v \in C(\overline{\Omega}) \, | \, v \text{ is } p \text{-superharmonious in } \Omega \text{ and } v \ge g \text{ on } \partial \Omega \right\}.$$
(2.12)

Any function  $v \in S_g$  (or  $v \in S^g$  respectively) is called as the (variational) *p*-subsolution (or *p*-supersolution respectively) of the Dirichlet problem (2.4). By (2.1), we see that

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[c] = c \text{ in } \Omega$$

for any constant  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . Therefore, it is easy to deduce that both  $S_g$  and  $S^g$  are nonempty sets since the constant functions  $v_1 = \min_{\partial\Omega} g \in S_g$  and  $v_2 = \max_{\partial\Omega} g \in S^g$ . The desired solution of (2.4)  $u^{\varepsilon}$  can be obtained by checking the functions defined by

$$\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} = \sup_{v \in S_q} v \text{ and } \bar{u}^{\varepsilon} = \inf_{v \in S^g}$$

coincide in  $\overline{\Omega}$  provided  $\partial\Omega$  satisfies some sufficient regularity assumptions. Then, we can define  $u^{\varepsilon} := \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  as the solution of (2.4).

**Lemma 2.2.1** Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and  $g \in C(\partial \Omega)$ . Then, the following statements hold true:

- (i) It holds that  $\min_{\partial\Omega} g \leq \underline{u}^{\varepsilon} \leq \overline{u}^{\varepsilon} \leq \max_{\partial\Omega} g.$
- (ii)  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a solution of (2.4) if and only if  $u \in S_g \cap S^g$ .
- (iii) If  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a solution of (2.4), then  $u^{\varepsilon} = \underline{u}^{\varepsilon} = \overline{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

**Proof of Lemma 2.2.1.** (i) By the weak comparison principle (Proposition 2.2.1), we see that  $u \leq v$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  for every  $u \in S_g$  and  $v \in S^g$  since  $u \leq g \leq v$  on  $\partial\Omega$ . Therefore, by using the properties of supremum and infimum, we infer that

$$\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} \leq \bar{u}^{\varepsilon}.$$

The two other relevant inequalities easily follow from the fact that the two relevant constant functions belong to  $S_g$  and  $S^g$ .

(ii) The statement is trivial by the definitions of  $S_g$  and  $S^g$ .

(iii) If  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a solution of (2.4), then (ii) implies  $u \in S_g \cap S^g$ . Therefore, we have

$$\bar{u}^{\varepsilon} \leq u \leq \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} \leq \bar{u}^{\varepsilon} \text{ in } \overline{\Omega},$$

which completes the proof for (iii).

Next, similar to the classical Perron's Method (see e.g. Gilbarg and Trudinger [38]), we introduce the following barrier function for our Dirichlet Problem (2.4).

**Definition 2.2.2 (Barrier functions)** Let  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ . A function  $w = w_{x_0} \in C(\Omega)$ is said to be a barrier function at  $x_0$  if and only if it is p-superharmonious in  $\Omega$ , positive in  $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{x_0\}$ , and  $w(x_0) = 0$ .

In addition, we say that  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  is a *regular point* for the Dirichlet problem in (2.4) if and only if there exists a barrier function at  $x_0$ .

**Proposition 2.2.2** If  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  is a regular point for (2.4), then

$$\underline{u}^{\varepsilon}(x_0) = \overline{u}^{\varepsilon}(x_0) = g(x_0).$$

**Proof of Proposition 2.2.2.** The proof is similar to the classical case, see [38, Gilbarg and Trudinger Section 2.8, pp. 23]. Let  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  and  $\eta > 0$ . Since  $g \in C(\partial \Omega)$ , we can find  $\delta > 0$  such that  $|g - g(x_0)| < \eta$ . Let  $w_{x_0} = w$  be the barrier function at  $x_0$  and define

$$M_{\delta} := \max_{\partial \Omega \setminus B(x_0, \delta)} \frac{|g - g(x_0)|}{w}$$

Hence, we obtain

$$|g - g(x_0)| \le \eta + M_{\delta} w$$
 on  $\partial \Omega$ ,

which means

$$(g(x_0) + \eta + M_{\delta}w) \in S^g$$
 and  $(g(x_0) - \eta - M_{\delta}w) \in S_g$ .

Thus, by the definition of  $S^g$  and  $S_g$ , we observe that

$$g(x_0) - \eta - M_{\delta}w \leq \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} \leq \overline{u}^{\varepsilon} \leq g(x_0) + \eta + M_{\delta}w \text{ in } \overline{\Omega},$$

whence it leads to

$$g(x_0) - \eta \le \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon}(x_0) \le \overline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon}(x_0) \le g(x_0) + \eta$$

since  $w(x_0) = 0$ . The conclusion of this proposition follows since  $\eta > 0$  is arbitrary. Finally, we have our main theorem in this section as written below.

Theorem 2.2.2 (Existence and uniqueness of *p*-harmonious functions) Let  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  such that  $\Omega$  contains at least a ball of radius  $\varepsilon_0$ . Then, for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$ , the Dirichlet problem (2.4) admits a unique solution  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  for any  $g \in C(\partial \Omega)$ if and only if all boundary points of  $\Omega$  are regular for (2.4).

**Proof of Theorem 2.2.2.** We will divide the proof of this theorem in two steps.

**Step 1.** Assume that every point on  $\partial\Omega$  is regular for (2.4). In view of Lemma 2.2.1 (i) and the definition of  $\underline{u}^{\varepsilon}$ ,  $\underline{u}^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded and lower semicontinuous in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , that is  $\underline{u}^{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}) \cap LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ . In fact,  $\underline{u}^{\varepsilon} = g$  on  $\partial\Omega$  in view of Proposition 2.2.2.

Next, we define a sequence of functions by following the iteration scheme below:

$$u_1 = \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon}, \quad u_{j+1} = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_j] \text{ in } \overline{\Omega} \text{ for any } j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proposition 2.1.1 ensures that  $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset L^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}) \cap LSC(\overline{\Omega})$ . In fact,  $u_j = g$  on  $\partial\Omega$  for every  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Since  $u \leq \underline{u}^{\varepsilon}$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  for any  $u \in S_g$ , we have

$$u \le \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u] \le \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[\underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon}] \text{ in } \overline{\Omega}$$

for any  $u \in S_g$ . Thus, we can deduce  $u_1 \leq \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1] = u_2$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  which in view of the monotonicity of  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$ , we also have  $u_2 \leq \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_2] = u_3$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By iterating this process, we see that

$$u_j \leq u_{j+1}$$
 in  $\Omega$  for any  $j \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Therefore,  $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  is increasing in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By Lemma 2.2.1 (i) and weak comparison principle, we have

$$\min_{\partial\Omega} g \le u_1 = \underline{\mathbf{u}}^{\varepsilon} \le \bar{u}^{\varepsilon} \le \max_{\partial\Omega} g \text{ in } \overline{\Omega},$$

whence by iteration process, it follows that

$$\min_{\partial\Omega} g \le u_j \le \max_{\partial\Omega} g \text{ in } \overline{\Omega} \text{ for any } j \in \mathbb{N}.$$

This means that  $(u_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a bounded and increasing sequence and hence it converges to a function  $u_1^{\varepsilon}$  pointwise in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Thus, Lemma 2.1.1 ensures that

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_j] \to \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1^{\varepsilon}] \text{ as } j \to \infty.$$

Similarly, by using the fact that  $S^g = -S_{-g}$ , we can obtain  $(U_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}} \subset L^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega}) \cap USC(\overline{\Omega})$ . Clearly, such a sequence is obtained by choosing  $U_1 = \overline{u}^{\varepsilon}$  and it is also decreasing in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Hence,  $(U_j)_{j\in\mathbb{N}}$  must converge to a function  $U_1^{\varepsilon}$  pointwise in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[U_j] \to \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[U_1^{\varepsilon}] \text{ as } j \to \infty.$$

It only remains to prove that  $u_1^{\varepsilon} = U_1^{\varepsilon}$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . First, observe that  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}$  is nonnegative in  $\overline{\Omega}$  and belongs to  $USC(\overline{\Omega})$ . Thus, it attains its maximum value  $M \ge 0$  at some point  $x_0 \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Our goal is to show that M = 0.

For the sake of contradiction, assume M > 0 and consider the following set:

$$A = \left\{ x \in \overline{\Omega} \, | \, (U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon})(x) = M \right\}$$

It is clear that A is nonempty since  $x_0 \in A$ . Furthermore,  $x_0 \in \Omega$  and  $A \subset \Omega$  since  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon} = 0$  on  $\partial \Omega$ . By Proposition 2.1.1,  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}$  belongs to  $C(\Omega)$  whence it follows that A is a closed set.

Next, we observe that  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) \leq u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0)$  in  $\Omega$  since  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon} \leq U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) = M$  in  $\Omega$ . By taking  $x \in \Omega$ , we deduce that

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[U_1^{\varepsilon}](x) - U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[U_1^{\varepsilon} - U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0)](x) \le \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0)](x) = \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1^{\varepsilon}](x) - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0)$$

in view of the monotonicity of  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$ . Therefore, we infer that

$$U_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x) - U_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0}) = \mu_{p}^{\varepsilon}[U_{1}^{\varepsilon} - U_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0})] \le \mu_{p}^{\varepsilon}[u_{1}^{\varepsilon} - u_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0})](x) = u_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x) - u_{1}^{\varepsilon}(x_{0})$$

since both of  $U_1^{\varepsilon}$  and  $u_1^{\varepsilon}$  are *p*-harmonious in  $\Omega$ . Next, we take any  $x \in A \subset \Omega$ . The definition of  $\mu_p^{\varepsilon}$  and Lemma 2.1.2 imply  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) \equiv u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0)$  in  $B(x, r_{\varepsilon}(x))$  and thus  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon} \equiv M$  in  $B(x, r_{\varepsilon}(x))$ . This means that  $B(x, r_{\varepsilon}(x)) \subset A$  for any  $x \in A$  and therefore A is an open set.

Following the previous argument, observe that A is nonempty, open, and closed. Additionally,  $\Omega$  is connected. Hence, we infer that  $A = \Omega$ . Now, we take  $(x_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset \Omega$ and  $x_* \in \partial \Omega$  so that  $x_n \to x_*$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Since  $U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon}$  belongs to  $USC(\overline{\Omega})$ , we see that

$$0 < M = U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_0) = \limsup_{n \to \infty} (U_1^{\varepsilon} - u_1^{\varepsilon})(x_n)$$
$$\leq U_1^{\varepsilon}(x_*) - u_1^{\varepsilon}(x_*) = g(x_*) - g(x_*) = 0$$

which is a contradiction. Hence, we have shown the existence of solution to Dirichlet Problem (2.4).

It is not difficult to show the uniqueness of solution. To see this, we let  $u_1^{\varepsilon}$  and  $u_2^{\varepsilon}$  be the solution of (2.4). Observe that

$$|u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon}| = |\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_1^{\varepsilon}] - \mu_p^{\varepsilon}[u_2^{\varepsilon}]| \text{ in } \Omega$$

which means

$$\mu_p^{\varepsilon}[|u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon}|] = |u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon}| \text{ in } \Omega \text{ and } |u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon}| = 0 \text{ on } \partial\Omega.$$

By Lemma 2.2.1 (i) and (iii), it follows that  $|u_1^{\varepsilon} - u_2^{\varepsilon}| = 0$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  which means our solution is unique.

Step 2. Now, we assume that the Dirichlet problem (2.4) admits a unique solution for any boundary data  $g \in C(\partial\Omega)$ . We will show that any point  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$ has a barrier function. To see this, we fix  $x_0 \in \partial\Omega$  and choose boundary data  $g_0 = |x - x_0|^2$ . It is clear that  $g_0$  is a convex function and therefore it is a *p*subharmonious function in view of Remark 2.2.1 (i). Moreover,  $g_0 \in S_{g_0}$  and the solution to Dirichlet problem (2.4) denoted as  $u_0 \in S^{g_0}$  is *p*-superharmonious in view of Lemma 2.2.1 (ii). It is easy to see that  $u_0$  is positive in  $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{x_0\}$  and  $u_0(x_0) = g_0(x_0) = 0$  since  $u_0 = g_0$  on  $\partial\Omega$  and weak maximum principle holds. Therefore, we can choose  $u_0$  as the barrier function at  $x_0$  which completes the proof of this theorem.

**Corollary 2.2.2** Assume  $\Omega$  also satisfies the uniform exterior sphere condition on  $\partial\Omega$ . Then, there exists  $\varepsilon_{\partial\Omega} \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$  such that for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\partial\Omega})$ , all points on  $\partial\Omega$  are regular.

Particularly, the Dirichlet problem (2.4) admits a unique solution  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ .

**Proof of Corollary 2.2.2.** By the uniform exterior sphere condition, we have R > 0 for any  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$  so that we can obtain a ball  $B(y_0, R)$  such that  $\overline{B(y_0, R)} \cap \overline{\Omega} = \{x_0\}$ . We proceed to define the following function:

$$w(x) := \frac{1}{R} - \frac{1}{|x - y_0|^{\alpha}} \text{ for any } x \in \overline{\Omega}$$
(2.13)

where  $\alpha > 0$ . It is clear that  $w \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ , w is positive in  $\overline{\Omega} \setminus \{x_0\}$ , and  $w(x_0) = 0$ . Finally, we choose  $\alpha = (N+1)(p-1)$  as in Remark 2.2.1 (ii) to see that w is p-superharmonious in  $\Omega$  for  $\varepsilon \in (0, r_{\Omega})$  in which we choose  $\varepsilon_{\partial\Omega} = r_{\Omega}$  here.

Thus, w is a barrier function at  $x_0$  which completes the proof since  $x_0$  can be choosen arbitrarily from  $\partial \Omega$ .

### 2.3 Convergence of *p*-harmonious functions

In this section, we will show that the solution to Dirichlet problem (2.4) converges uniformly to the (viscosity) solution of (2.8). First, we start with the classical definition of a viscosity solution of an elliptic degenerate equation. Consider a continuous mapping

$$F:\overline{\Omega}\times\mathbb{R}\times(\mathbb{R}^N\setminus\{0\})\times S^N\to\mathbb{R}$$

where  $S^N$  is the set of  $N \times N$  symmetric matrices.

#### Definition 2.3.1 (The upper and lower semicontinuous envelopes)

The upper semicontinuous envelopes  $F^*$  of F are the functions defined by

$$F^*(x, s, \xi, X) = \lim_{(y,t,\eta,Y) \to (x,s,\xi,X)} F(y, t, \eta, Y)$$

for any  $(x, s, \xi, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}) \times S^N$ .

The lower semicontinuous envelopes  $F_*$  of F are the functions which can be defined by

$$F_* = -(-F)^*.$$

We recall from [21] and [51] the following notions of viscosity subsolutions and viscosity supersolutions.

### Definition 2.3.2 (Viscosity subsolutions and supersolutions)

A function u is a viscosity subsolution (or supersolution respectively) of F = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ if and only if for any  $(x, \phi) \in \overline{\Omega} \times C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  with  $\nabla \phi(x) \neq 0$  and such that  $u - \phi$  has a local maximum (or local minimum respectively) at x with  $\phi(x) = u(x)$ , it holds that

$$F_*(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)) \le 0 \quad (or \ F^*(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)) \ge 0 \ respectively).$$

Hence,  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity solution of F = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$  if and only if it is both a viscosity subsolution and supersolution.

Next, we set F as follows:

$$F(x,s,\xi,X) = -\frac{\operatorname{tr}(X)}{p} - \frac{(p-2)}{p} \frac{\langle X\xi, xi \rangle}{|\xi|^2}$$

for any  $(x, s, \xi, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}) \times S^N$  where  $\operatorname{tr}(X)$  is the trace of matrix X.

In order to obtain the convergence of p-harmonious function, we will follow the arguments given by Barles and Souganidis in [8]. To this aim, we need to setup further notation.

**Proposition 2.3.1** Let  $G: \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}) \times S^N \to \mathbb{R}$  be a mapping defined by

$$G(x, s, \xi, X) := \begin{cases} -\frac{tr(X)}{p} - \frac{(p-2)}{p} \frac{\langle X\xi, \xi \rangle}{|\xi|^2} & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ s - g(x) & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.14)

for any  $(x, s, \xi, X) \in \overline{\Omega} \times \mathbb{R} \times (\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \{0\}) \times S^N$ . Then, we have

$$G^*(x, s, \xi, X) = G_*(x, s, \xi, X) = -\frac{tr(X)}{p} - \frac{(p-2)}{p} \frac{\langle X\xi, \xi \rangle}{|\xi|^2} \text{ for any } x \in \Omega \quad (2.15)$$

and

$$G^*(x, s, \xi, X) = \max\left\{-\frac{tr(X)}{p} - \frac{(p-2)}{p}\frac{\langle X\xi, \xi \rangle}{|\xi|^2}, s - g(x)\right\},$$
(2.16)

$$G_*(x, s, \xi, X) = \min\left\{-\frac{tr(X)}{p} - \frac{(p-2)}{p}\frac{\langle X\xi, \xi \rangle}{|\xi|^2}, s - g(x)\right\}$$
(2.17)

for any  $x \in \partial \Omega$ .

**Proof of Proposition 2.3.1.** The first formula in (2.15) follows from the continuity of G at interior points of  $\Omega$ . When  $x \in \partial \Omega$ , we observe that for sufficiently small  $\delta > 0$ , the supremum of G in  $(B(x, \delta)\overline{\Omega}) \times B(s, \delta) \times B(\xi, \delta) \times B(X, \delta)$  (where the ball must be intended in the relevant Euclidean spaces) is equal to

$$\max\left\{-\frac{\operatorname{tr}(X)}{p}-\frac{(p-2)}{p}\frac{\langle X\xi,\xi\rangle}{|\xi|^2},s-g(x)\right\}.$$

The formula for  $G^*$  in (2.16) follows from above. The formula for  $G_*$  easily follows from  $G_* = -(-G)^*$ .

**Remark 2.3.1** Let  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  with  $\nabla \phi(x) \neq 0$ . Then, we have

$$G(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)) = \begin{cases} -\Delta_p^G\phi(x) & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ \phi(x) - g(x) & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega, \end{cases}$$
(2.18)

and thus

$$G^{*}(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^{2}\phi(x)) = \max\{-\Delta_{p}^{G}\phi(x),\phi(x)\},$$
(2.19)

$$G_*(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)) = \min\{-\Delta_p^G\phi(x),\phi(x)\}.$$
(2.20)

By Remark 2.3.1, Theorem 3.3 in [22], and the classical weak comparison principle for the viscosity solution of (2.8) (see [49, 55]), we immediately obtain the following weak comparison principle for G = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ , see [8] (and also [6, 7, 45] for further references).

**Proposition 2.3.2 (Comparison principle)** Let  $u \in USC(\overline{\Omega}) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$  and  $v \in LSC(\overline{\Omega}) \cap L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . If u and v are viscosity subsolution and supersolution of G = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$  respectively, then we have that  $u \leq v$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Following the previous proposition, we proceed to introduce an approximation scheme by *p*-harmonious functions. To this aim, we let  $\varepsilon_0 > 0$  be sufficiently small so that there exists a ball with radius  $\varepsilon_0$  which is contained in  $\Omega$  and  $\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon} : \mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega} \times C(\overline{\Omega}) \to \mathbb{R}$  for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$  as follows:

$$\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(s, x, u) = \begin{cases} \frac{2(N+p)\varepsilon}{p} \frac{s-\mu_{p}^{\varepsilon}[u](x)}{r_{\varepsilon}(x)^{2}} & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ \varepsilon(s-g(x)) & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$
(2.21)

for  $(s, x, u) \in \mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega} \times C(\overline{\Omega})$ .

**Lemma 2.3.1** If  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  and  $\phi \in C^2(\overline{\Omega})$  with  $\nabla \phi(x) \neq 0$ , then we have

$$\lim_{(\varepsilon,y,\delta)\to(0^+,x,0)}\frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(\phi(y)+\delta,y,\phi+\delta)}{\varepsilon} = G^*(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)),$$
(2.22)

$$\lim_{(\varepsilon,y,\delta)\to(0^+,x,0)} \frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(\phi(y)+\delta,y,\phi+\delta)}{\varepsilon} = G_*(x,\phi(x),\nabla\phi(x),\nabla^2\phi(x)).$$
(2.23)

**Proof of Lemma 2.3.1.** By using the additivity with constants and homogeneity of *p*-means, for every  $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$\frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(\phi(y)+\delta,y,\phi+\delta)}{\varepsilon} = \frac{2(N+p)}{p} \frac{\phi(y)-\mu_{p}^{\varepsilon}[\phi](y)}{r_{\varepsilon}(y)^{2}} \text{ when } y \in \Omega,$$

and

$$\frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(\phi(y)+\delta,y,\phi+\delta)}{\varepsilon}=\phi(y)+\delta-g(y) \text{ when } y\in\partial\Omega.$$

Then by uniform convergence in Proposition 2.1.2, continuity of  $\phi$  and g, we deduce

$$\lim_{(\varepsilon,y,\delta)\to(0^+,x,0)}\frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(\phi(y)+\delta,y,\phi+\delta)}{\varepsilon} = \begin{cases} -\Delta_p^G\phi(x) & \text{if } x \in \Omega, \\ \max\{-\Delta_p^G\phi(x),\phi(x)-g(x)\} & \text{if } x \in \partial\Omega. \end{cases}$$

Thus, (2.22) holds. The proof for (2.23) follows similarly.

We are now ready to introduce our main theorem in this section.

#### Theorem 2.3.2 (Convergence of *p*-harmonious functions)

Assume  $\Omega$  be a bounded  $C^2$ -smooth domain containing a ball of radius  $\varepsilon_0$ . Suppose there exists  $\varepsilon_{\partial\Omega} \in (0, \varepsilon_0]$  such that for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\partial\Omega})$ , every point of  $\partial\Omega$  is a regular point for the Dirichlet problem (2.4).

Let  $u^{\varepsilon}$  be the unique solution in  $C(\overline{\Omega})$  of (2.4) for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\partial\Omega})$ . Then, for every  $g \in C(\partial\Omega)$ , there exists  $u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  such that  $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$  uniformly in  $\overline{\Omega}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  and u is the unique viscosity solution of (2.8).

**Proof of Theorem 2.3.2.** Up to re-defining  $\varepsilon_0$ , for every  $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ , there exists a unique function  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  which solves

$$\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(u^{\varepsilon}(x), x, u^{\varepsilon}) = 0 \text{ for any } x \in \overline{\Omega}$$

$$(2.24)$$

in view of Theorem 2.2.2. Moreover,  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is bounded in  $\overline{\Omega}$  from below and above by the minimum and the maximum of g on  $\partial\Omega$  by Lemma 2.2.1 (i). Thus,  $u^{\varepsilon}$  is uniformly bounded with respect to  $\varepsilon$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Hence, by the aforementioned boundedness of  $u^{\varepsilon}$ , we can define

$$u_*(x) = \liminf_{(\varepsilon,y) \to (0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y) \text{ and } u^*(x) = \limsup_{(\varepsilon,y) \to (0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y)$$

which are bounded in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . In fact,  $u_*$  and  $u^*$  are lower semicontinuous and upper semicontinuous in  $\overline{\Omega}$  respectively since  $u^{\varepsilon} \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ . We will show that  $u_* \equiv u^*$ . Since we know  $u_* \leq u^*$ , it is enough for us to show  $u_* \geq u^*$ . To this aim, we only need to prove that  $u_*$  and  $u^*$  are a viscosity supersolution and subsolution of G = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ .

Following the previous argument, we recall Theorem 2.5 in [46] to see that the mapping  $\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}$  is decreasing in the third variable, in the sense that for any  $(s, x) \in \mathbb{R} \times \overline{\Omega}$  and  $u, v \in C(\overline{\Omega})$ , it holds that

if 
$$u \leq v$$
 in  $\Omega$ , then  $\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(s, x, u) \geq \mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon}(s, x, v)$ .

Now, let  $(x, \phi) \in \overline{\Omega} \times C(\overline{\Omega})$  with  $\nabla \phi(x) \neq 0$  and  $u^* - \phi$  has a local maximum at x with  $u^*(x) = \phi(x)$ . Without loss of generality, we can assume that the maximum is global and strict, that is

$$u^* - \phi < u^*(x) - \phi(x) = 0 \text{ in } \overline{\Omega} \setminus \{x\}.$$

By a standard argument in the theory of viscosity solutions (see [51]), we know that there exists a sequence of elements  $((\varepsilon_j, x_j))_{j \in \mathbb{N}} \subset (0, \varepsilon_0, \overline{\Omega})$  such that for any fixed  $j \in \mathbb{N}, x_j$  is a global maximum point for  $u^{\varepsilon_j} - \phi$  and

$$(\varepsilon_j, x_j, u^{\varepsilon_j}(x_j)) \to (0, x, u^*(x))$$
 as  $j \to \infty$ .

If we set  $\delta_j = u^{\varepsilon_j}(x_j) - \phi(x_j)$ , then  $\delta_j \to 0$  as  $j \to \infty$  and  $u^{\varepsilon_j} - \phi \leq \delta_j$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Next, we use (2.24) at  $x_j$  for  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon_j$  and  $u^{\varepsilon} = u^{\varepsilon_j}$  to deduce that

$$0 = \mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}(u^{\varepsilon_j}(x_j), x_j, u^{\varepsilon_j}) = \mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}(\phi(x_j) + \delta_j, x_j, u^{\varepsilon_j}) \ge \mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}(\phi(x_j) + \delta_j, x_j, \phi + \delta_j)$$
in which the last inequality follows from the aforementioned monotonicity of  $\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}$ . Then, since  $\nabla \phi(x) \neq 0$ , we can apply Lemma 2.3.1 to see that

$$0 \ge \liminf_{j \to \infty} \frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}(\phi(x_j) + \delta_j, x_j, \phi + \delta_j)}{\varepsilon_j}$$
$$\ge \liminf_{(\varepsilon, y, \delta) \to (0^+, x, 0)} \frac{\mathscr{A}_{\varepsilon_j}(\phi(y) + \delta, y, \phi + \delta)}{\varepsilon}$$
$$= F_*(x, \phi(x), \nabla \phi(x), \Delta^2 \phi(x)).$$

Therefore,  $u^*$  is a viscosity subsolution of G = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . By following similar arguments,  $u_*$  is a viscosity supersolution of G = 0 in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Thus, applying Proposition 2.3.2, we deduce that  $u^* \leq u_*$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$ . Hence  $u_* = u^* = u \in C(\overline{\Omega})$  is a viscosity solution of (2.8).

It remains to show that the convergence is uniform. First, we will prove that  $u^{\varepsilon}$  converges pointwise to a function  $u = u_* = u^*$  in  $\overline{\Omega}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$  by the way it is constructed. To see this, we observe that

$$u(x) = u^*(x) \limsup_{(\varepsilon,y) \to (0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y) \ge \liminf_{(\varepsilon,y) \to (0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y)$$
(2.25)

and

$$\limsup_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y) = u^*(x) \le u_*(x) = \liminf_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y)$$
(2.26)

for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  since  $u^*$  and  $u_*$  are a viscosity subsolution and supersolution respectively in view of Proposition 2.3.2. Therefore, we have

$$u(x) = \limsup_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y) = \liminf_{(\varepsilon,y)\to(0^+,x)} u^{\varepsilon}(y)$$

for any  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$  which means  $u^{\varepsilon} \to u$  pointwise in  $\overline{\Omega}$  as  $\varepsilon \to 0$ . Next, we fix  $x \in \overline{\Omega}$ . Then, by using (2.25) and (2.26), for any  $\eta > 0$ , there exists  $\delta_{\eta,x} > 0$  such that

$$u(x) - \frac{\eta}{2} < \inf_{\max\{\varepsilon, |y-x|\} < \delta_{\eta,x}} u^{\varepsilon}(y) \le \sup_{\max\{\varepsilon, |y-x|\} < \delta_{\eta,x}} u^{\varepsilon}(y) < u(x) + \frac{\eta}{2}$$

which leads to

$$|u^{\varepsilon} - u(x)| < \frac{\eta}{2} \text{ in } B(x, \delta_{\eta, x}) \cap \overline{\Omega}$$
 (2.27)

for  $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta_{\eta, x})$ . Let  $\Lambda = \bigcup_{x \in \overline{\Omega}} B(x, \delta_{\eta, x})$  so that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset \Lambda$ . By the compactness of  $\overline{\Omega}$ , there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $(x_i)_{i=1}^{n_0} \subset \overline{\Omega}$  such that  $\overline{\Omega} \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n_0} B(x_i, \delta_{\eta, x_i})$ . Combining this fact and (2.27), we infer

$$|u^{\varepsilon} - u(x_i)| < \frac{\eta}{2} \text{ in } B(x_i, \delta_{\eta, x_i}) \cap \overline{\Omega}$$
(2.28)

for any  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n_0\}$  and  $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta_{\eta, x_i})$ . By setting

$$\delta_{\eta} := \min_{1 \le i \le n_0} \delta_{\eta, x_i},$$

we see that

$$|u^{\varepsilon} - u| < \eta \text{ in } \overline{\Omega}$$

for any  $\varepsilon \in (0, \delta_{\eta})$ . Since  $\eta > 0$  is arbitrary and  $\delta_{\eta}$  does not depend on x, we conclude that

$$u^{\varepsilon} \to u \text{ as } \varepsilon \to 0 \text{ uniformly in } \overline{\Omega}$$

which completes the proof of this theorem.

Several similar results to this theorem have been obtained in [22, 61, 63, 64] based on a different notion of *p*-mean value. Particularly, this theorem was expected to hold since our *p*-mean  $\nu_p$  has all structural assumptions similar to the *p*-mean proposed in [22], for the convergence of the underlying dynamic programming principle. Those assumptions are additivity with constants, 1-homogeneity, and monotonicity for essentially bounded functions. However, Theorem 2.3.2 cannot be proven as a direct application of the general result in [22] since the definitions of the two *p*-mean values do not necessarily coincide.

# Chapter 3

# Blow-up rate of time-local solutions to a semilinear heat equation

In this chapter we consider a semilinear heat equations with subcritical Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz nonlinear term in the sense of Sobolev embedding. Particularly, we are interested to study the blow-up rate of time-local solutions which blow up in finite time. The methods used to analyze the blow-up rate are variable transformation and parabolic argument. In fact, our method is also applicable to a system of semilinear heat equations which will be covered in the last section of this chapter. Finally, we put a remark here that the results in this study is a natural progression of the results which have been obtained in [19].

## 3.1 Introduction and main results

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ . The critical Sobolev exponent is denoted by 2<sup>\*</sup> which is defined as  $2^* := \frac{2N}{N-2}$  when  $N \ge 3$  and  $2^* := \infty$  when N = 1, 2. We consider the following semilinear heat equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u - u + f(u) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(P)

where  $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for simplicity and  $T_m$  denotes the maximal existence time of a classical solution to (P). Our assumptions on the nonlinearity f are as follows:

- (N1) The function  $f : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is locally Lipschitz in  $\mathbb{R}$ , f(0) = 0, and  $\lim_{|u|\to 0} \left|\frac{f(u)}{u}\right| = 0$ .
- (N2) There exists  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ ,  $\kappa > 0$ , and  $C_{N2} > 0$  such that  $|f(u)| \leq C_{N2} |u|^{p-1}$  for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}$  with  $|u| \geq \kappa$ .
- (AR) Let us define  $F(u) := \int_0^u f(\tau) d\tau$  for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ . Then, F satisfies the following two conditions:
  - (AR1) F is positive in  $\mathbb{R} \setminus \{0\}$ .
  - (AR2) There exists  $\mu > 2$  such that  $\mu F(u) \le u f(u)$  for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Namely, we assume that our nonlinearity has subcritical growth in the Sobolev sense (N2), and its primitive function F satisfies the positivity (AR1), and the so-called Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition (AR2).

**Definition 3.1.1** The time-local classical solution u to (P) is said to blow up in finite time if

$$||u(t)||_{\infty} \to \infty \quad (t \uparrow T_m).$$

We assume  $T_m < \infty$ , i.e., we only consider time-local classical solutions to (P) which blows up in finite time throughout this chapter. The existence of time-local solution is well-known, see e.g. [15], [77], [88], and references therein. Furthermore, the fact that time-local solution blows up also follows from a similar argument as above. We would also like to clarify that our time-local classical solution means  $u, \nabla u, \nabla^2 u$ , and  $\partial_t u$  are bounded and continuous in  $\mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m)$ .

Our main results read as follows:

**Theorem 3.1.1 (Lower estimate of blow-up rate)** Under (N1), (N2), and (AR), every time-local solution u to (P) which blows up in finite time satisfies the following lower blow-up estimate:

there exists 
$$C_L > 0 \ s.t. \ \frac{C_L}{(T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}} \le ||u(t)||_{\infty}$$
 (BRL)

for any t sufficiently close to  $T_m$ .

**Theorem 3.1.2 (Upper estimate of blow-up rate)** Assume  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  and  $\mu = p$ . Then, under (N1), (N2), and (AR), every time-local solution u to (P) which blows up in finite time satisfies the following upper blow-up estimate:

there exists 
$$C_U > 0 \ s.t. \ \|u(t)\|_{\infty} \le \frac{C_U}{(T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{\mu - 2}}}$$
 (BRU)

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$ .

Roughly speaking, the lower blow-up rate is controlled by exponent p in (N2) whereas the upper blow-up rate is controlled by  $\mu$  in (AR). Notice that from Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.1.2 we can observe that  $p \leq \mu$ . However, the authors suspect that the assumption  $\mu = p$  might not be an essential condition and therefore it is still an open problem to show that the upper blow-up rate in Theorem 3.1.2 holds when  $p < \mu$ . For ordinary differential equation case, the analog result of Theorem 3.1.2 does not require  $\mu = p$ , see [19].

Study of semilinear heat equations has been of great interests for many researchers (see e.g. [11], [13], [15], [31], [44], [57], [54], [52], etc). Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded smooth domain (for simplicity). Consider the following semilinear heat equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u + \tilde{f}(u) & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = \tilde{u}_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(P0)

where  $\tilde{u}_0$  is the initial data. It is also well-known that some solutions to (P0) could blow up in finite time depending on  $\tilde{f}$  and the size of initial data under some appropriate norms. For instance, the solution to (P0) blows up in finite time for some initial data in  $L^2$  when the nonlinearity is locally Lipschitz in  $\mathbb{R}$  and satisfies the compatibility condition (see e.g. [15]). In [44], Ikehata and Suzuki obtain equivalent condition for blow-up solutions to (P0) when  $\tilde{f}(u) = u|u|^{p-2}$  with p > 2 in a convex bounded smooth domain by using stable and unstable sets from the argument of dynamical system (see e.g. [42]). When the domain is  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and the solution is a radially symmetric nonnegative function, Mizoguchi shows that solutions to the semilinear heat equations with supercritical nonlinearity in the sense of Sobolev embedding blow up in finite time for sufficiently large initial data in [65]. As for the subcritical case, Fujita (see [30]) shows that every nontrivial solution blows up in finite time when  $p \in (2, 2 + \frac{2}{N}]$  while there exists a nontrivial time-global classical solutions when  $p > 2 + \frac{2}{N}$ . For more results concerning the blow-up of solutions, see e.g. [54], [73], [29], and references therein. We introduce the definition of Type I blow-up as follows:

**Definition 3.1.2 (Type I blow-up)** The solution to semilinear heat equations which blows up in finite time denoted by u is said to have Type I blow-up if

there exits C > 0 and q > 2 such that  $||u(t)||_{\infty} \leq C(T_m - t)^{\frac{-1}{q-2}}$ 

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$ .

Otherwise, the solution which blows up in finite time is said to have Type II blowup. It is known that if the solution to the semilinear heat equation with polynomial nonlinearity is increasing in time and  $\Omega$  is bounded, then Type I blow-up occurs. For subcritical polynomial nonlinearity in the sense of Sobolev embedding, Giga, Matsui, and Sasayama show that Type I blow-up occurs when the domain is  $\mathbb{R}^N$  in [34]. Their results complement the results of Giga and Kohn in [36] which only cover  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  when N > 1 for sign-changing solutions. For more results related to Type I blow-up, see also the monograph [78, pp.212].

In this chapter, we will study the lower and upper estimates of blow-up solutions to (P). Namely, we show that Type I blow-up occurs in view of Theorem 3.1.2. We also extend our results to a system of semilinear heat equations. In order to obtain Theorem 3.1.2, we mainly use similarity variable transformation and parabolic argument similar to the argument given by Giga and Kohn in [36]. However, Giga and Kohn's results mainly cover polynomial nonlinearity. Let p and q be subcritical in the sense of Sobolev embedding. Note that our results include nonlinear terms which are not covered in [36] such as

$$\tilde{f}(u) = \begin{cases} -u + u|u|^{q-2} & \text{if } u \in [-1,1], \\ -u + u|u|^{p-2} & \text{if } u < -1 \text{ or } u > 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where p < q and

$$\tilde{f}(u) = \begin{cases} -u + \left(1 + \frac{1}{2\pi L}\sin(\pi L u)\right)u|u|^6 & \text{if } |u| \le 1, \\ -u + u|u|^2 & \text{if } u < -1 \text{ or } u > 1, \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

where we choose  $L \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $p = \mu = 4$ ,  $\kappa = 1$ , and N = 3.

The structure of this chapter is as follows. In Section 2, we introduce some preliminary facts associated with (P) and some necessary tools whereas the proof of our main results will be given in Section 3. In Section 4, we extend our main results to a system of semilinear heat equations. The appendix deals with technical backgrounds.

# 3.2 Preliminaries

In this section, we introduce some basic tools concerning  $L^p - L^q$  estimate, similarity variable transformation, and parabolic argument which would be applied to the time-local solution for (P).

We begin by considering the contraction semigroup  $(S(t))_{t\geq 0}$  generated by Laplacian in  $L^2(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We recall that our time-local solutions also satisfy the following integral equation:

$$u(t) = S(t)u_0 + \int_0^t S(t-\sigma)\big(-u(\sigma) + f(u(\sigma))\big)d\sigma$$
(3.3)

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$ . See e.g. [15, pp.62, Proposition 5.1.1] for reference.

We also have the following  $(L^p - L^q \text{ estimate})$  smoothing effect.

**Lemma 3.2.1 (Smoothing effect)** Let  $1 \leq \gamma_1 \leq \gamma_2 \leq \infty$ . Then, for any  $\varphi \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\gamma_1}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  and for any t > 0, it holds that

$$||S(t)\varphi||_{\gamma_2} \le t^{-\frac{N}{2}\left(\frac{1}{\gamma_1} - \frac{1}{\gamma_2}\right)} ||\varphi||_{\gamma_1}.$$

The proof of this lemma for bounded smooth domain can be found in [15] (see Proposition 3.5.7 pp.44). However, the argument for the proof still holds even when the domain is  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .

The use of similarity variable transformation is essential to change our time-local solution into a time-global solution. By changing our time-local solution into a time-global solution, we can find an energy functional with a good structure that satisfies non-increasing property and non-negativity (see e.g. [54]).

Now, we introduce the following similarity variable transformation. First, we fix an arbitrary point  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . For convenience, we set

$$\beta := \frac{1}{\mu - 2}$$

We let

$$y := (T_m - t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} (x - a), \text{ and } s := -\log(T_m - t),$$
 (3.4)

to define

$$v_a(y,s) := (T_m - t)^{\beta} u(x,t).$$
(3.5)

Then, we apply (3.4) to (P) to obtain a new semilinear parabolic equation as follows:

$$\begin{cases} \partial sv_a = \Delta v_a - \frac{1}{2}y \cdot \nabla v_a - (\beta + e^{-s})v_a + e^{-(\beta + 1)s}f(e^{\beta s}v_a) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (s_0, \infty), \\ v_a(\cdot, s_0) = e^{-\beta s_0}u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N, \end{cases}$$
(Ps)

where  $s_0 = -\log T_m$ .

Next, we introduce a weight function as follows:

$$\rho(y) := e^{-\frac{|y|^2}{4}}$$

for any  $y \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . We use a weight function  $\rho$  here because we work in an unbounded domain and the first two terms of the right hand side of the first equation in (Ps) satisfies the following identity:

$$\nabla \cdot (\nabla v_a \rho) = \Delta v_a \rho - \frac{1}{2} y \cdot \nabla v_a \rho.$$
(3.6)

Following the definition of the weight function above, we introduce the following energy functionals associated with (Ps):

$$E[v_{a}(s)] := \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla v_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \frac{\beta + e^{-s}}{2} \|v_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \int_{s_{0}}^{s} e^{-\sigma} \|v_{a}(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} d\sigma - e^{-(2\beta+1)s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} F(e^{\beta s}v_{a}(s))\rho dy + \beta \int_{s_{0}}^{s} e^{-(2\beta+1)\sigma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \left[ e^{\beta \sigma} v_{a}(\sigma) f(e^{\beta \sigma}v_{a}(\sigma)) - \mu F(e^{\beta \sigma}v_{a}(\sigma)) \right] \rho dy d\sigma \quad (E01)$$

and

$$K[v_a(s)] := \|\nabla v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 + (\beta + e^{-s})\|v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 - e^{-(2\beta+1)s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{\beta s} v_a(s) f(e^{\beta s} v_a(s))\rho dy$$
(K01)

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . Our energy functionals satisfy the following proposition:

**Proposition 3.2.1 (Energy equalities)** Let  $v_a$  be a solution of (Ps). Then, we have the following energy equalities:

$$\frac{d}{ds}E[v_a(s)] = -\|\partial_s v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 \tag{E02}$$

and

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}\|v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 = -K[v_a(s)]$$
(K02)

for any  $s \in (s_0, \infty)$ .

**Proof of Proposition 3.2.1.** We will divide the proof into two parts. The first part will show (E02) holds whereas the second part will show (K02).

**Part 1.** We multiply both sides of (Ps) by  $\partial_s v_a$  together with  $\rho$  and then use (3.6) to see that

$$|\partial_s v_a(s)|^2 \rho = \nabla \cdot (\nabla v_a \rho) \partial_s v_a - (\beta + e^{-s}) v_a \partial_s v_a \rho + e^{-(\beta + 1)s} f(e^{\beta s} v_a(s)).$$

Following the relation above, we integrate over spatial domain  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and then we fix  $s \in (s_0, \infty)$  to integrate over time domain  $[s_0, s]$  to obtain the relation below:

$$\int_{s_0}^{s} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma = -\int_{s_0}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\sigma} |\nabla v_a(\sigma)|^2 + (\beta + e^{-\sigma}) \partial_{\sigma} |v_a(\sigma)|^2) \rho dy d\sigma + \int_{s_0}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{-(\beta+1)\sigma} f(e^{\beta\sigma} v_a(\sigma)) \partial_{\sigma} v_a \rho dy d\sigma.$$
(3.7)

On the other hand, notice that

$$e^{-(\beta+1)\sigma}f(e^{\beta\sigma}v_a)\partial_{\sigma}v_a = \partial_{\sigma}[e^{-(2\beta+1)\sigma}F(e^{\beta\sigma}v_a)] + \beta e^{-(2\beta+1)\sigma}\bigg[\mu F(e^{\beta\sigma}v_a) - e^{\beta\sigma}v_af(e^{\beta\sigma}v_a)\bigg]$$
(3.8)

since F is the primitive of f.

By changing the order of integration for the first integral in the right hand side of (3.7) and substituting (3.8) into the second integral in the right hand side of (3.7), we obtain

$$\int_{s_0}^{s} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma = -E[v_a(s)] + \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla v_a(s_0)\|_{2,\rho}^2 + \frac{\beta + s_{s_0}}{2} \|v_a(s_0)\|_{2,\rho}^2 - e^{-(2\beta+1)s_0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(e^{\beta s_0} v_a(s_0))\rho dy.$$

Therefore, we conclude that (E02) holds true.

**Part 2.** We multiply (Ps) by  $v_a$  together with  $\rho$  and then use (3.6) to see that

$$\frac{1}{2}\partial_s |v_a(s)|^2 \rho = \nabla \cdot (\nabla v_a(s))v_a(s) - (\beta + e^{-s})|v(s)|^2 \rho + e^{-(\beta + 1)s}v_a(s)f(e^{\beta s}v_a(s))\rho.$$

Again, we integrate over spatial domain  $\mathbb{R}^N$  and then we fix  $s \in (s_0, \infty)$  to integrate over time domain  $[s_0, s]$  as in **Part 1** to obtain the following relation:

$$\int_{s_0}^s \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \frac{1}{2} \partial_\sigma |v_a(\sigma)|^2 \rho dy = -\int_{s_0}^s \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |\nabla v_a(\sigma)|^2 \rho + (\beta + e^{-\sigma}) |v_a(\sigma)|^2 \rho dy d\sigma + \int_{s_0}^s \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} e^{-(\beta+1)\sigma} v_a(\sigma) f(e^{\sigma v_a(\sigma)}) \rho dy d\sigma.$$

By changing the order of integration on the left hand side of the equation, we see that

$$\|v_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} - \|v_{a}(s_{0})\|_{2,\rho}^{2} = -\int_{s_{0}}^{s} \|\nabla v_{a}(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + (\beta + e^{-\sigma})\|v_{a}(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^{2}$$
$$- e^{-(2\beta+1)\sigma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} e^{\beta\sigma} v_{a}(\sigma) f(e^{\beta\sigma} v_{a}(\sigma))\rho dy d\sigma$$
$$= -\int_{s_{0}}^{s} K[v_{a}(\sigma)] d\sigma$$

which implies (K02) and thus we complete the proof for Proposition 3.2.1.

We will show that the following concavity argument holds for our energy functional E.

**Proposition 3.2.2 (Concavity argument, see e.g.** [54]) If  $v_a$  is a time-global solution to (Ps), then

$$E[v_a(s)] \ge 0$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ .

**Proof of Proposition 3.2.2.** We will prove by using contradiction argument. Assume on the contrary

there exists 
$$s_1 \in [s_0, \infty)$$
 s.t.  $E[v_a(s_1)] < 0.$  (3.9)

By combining (K02) together with (E01) and then using (AR2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{ds} \|v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 &= -2E[v_a(s)] + \int_{s_0}^s e^{-\sigma} \|v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma \\ &+ e^{-(2\beta+1)s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \underbrace{\left[ e^{\beta s} v_a(s) f(e^{\beta s} v_a(s)) - 2F(e^{\beta s} v_a(s)) \right]}_{\geq 0 \text{ from (AR2)}} \rho dy \\ &+ 2\beta \int_{s_0}^s e^{-(2\beta+1)\sigma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \underbrace{\left[ e^{\beta \sigma} v_a(\sigma) f(e^{\beta \sigma} v_a(\sigma)) - \mu F(e^{\beta \sigma} v_a(\sigma)) \right]}_{\geq 0 \text{ from (AR2)}} \rho dy d\sigma \\ &\xrightarrow{\geq 0 \text{ from (AR2)}} \end{split}$$

which leads to the following inequality:

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}\|v_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 \ge -2E[v_a(s)] \ge -2E[v_a(s_0)] > 0$$
(3.10)

for any  $s \ge s_1$  since E is non-increasing and (3.9) holds. Next, we set  $Y(s) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{s_1}^s ||v_a(\sigma)||_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma$ . Then, we use (3.10) to see that

$$Y''(s) \ge -2E[v(s_1)] > 0$$

for any  $s \ge s_1$  which means

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} Y'(s) = \infty \text{ and } \lim_{s \to \infty} Y(s) = \infty.$$
(3.11)

We multiply Y by Y'' and use (3.10) to observe

$$Y(s)h''(s) = \int_{s_1}^{2} \|v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma Y''(s)$$
  

$$\geq \int_{s_1}^{2} \|v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma (-2E[v_a(s)])$$
  

$$\geq \frac{\mu}{2} \int_{s_1}^{2} \|v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma \int_{s_1}^{s} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma$$
  

$$\geq \frac{\mu}{2} \left[ \int_{s_1}^{s} \|v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho} d\sigma \right]^2$$
  

$$\geq \frac{\mu}{2} \left[ \int_{s_1}^{s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} |v_a(\sigma)\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)|\rho dy d\sigma \right]^2$$
  

$$\geq \frac{\mu}{2} [Y'(s) - Y'(s_1)]^2.$$

This relation together with (3.11) allows us to choose  $\theta \in (\frac{2}{\mu}, 1)$  and  $s_{\theta} > s_1$  large enough so that

$$Y(s)Y''(s) \ge \frac{\mu}{2}\theta(Y'(s))^2$$
 for any  $s \in (s_{\theta}, \infty)$ .

But according to Lemma .0.2, Y cannot exist time-globally which is impossible since  $v_a$  exists as the time-global solution to (Ps). Hence, (3.9) is false and the conclusion of this proposition must be true.

We introduce the following general parabolic equation in the form of

$$\partial_s v - \nabla \cdot (A\nabla v) + B \cdot \nabla v + gv = 0 \tag{Pg}$$

with continuously varying coefficients. In this chapter, we only need the following two lemmas related to (Pg) to be applied to our transformed problem (Ps).

**Lemma 3.2.2** Let  $2 \le \mu' < \infty$  and  $1 \le r < \frac{2(\mu'+1)}{3}$ . If  $v \in L^{2\mu'}((0,1); B_R(0))$  and  $\partial_s v \in L^2((0,1); B_R(0))$ , then

$$\sup_{0<\tau<1} \|v(\tau)\|_{L^{r}(B_{R}(0))} \leq C \left(\int_{0}^{1} \|\partial_{\tau}v(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(B_{R}(0))}^{2} + \|v(\tau)\|_{L^{2}(B_{R}(0))}^{2} d\tau\right)^{\frac{(1-\nu)}{2}} \times \left(\int_{0}^{1} \|v(\tau)\|_{L^{\mu'}(B_{R}(0))}^{2\mu'} d\tau\right)^{\frac{\nu}{2\mu'}}$$

for some constant C > 0 where  $\nu = \frac{\mu'}{\mu'+1}$ .

For details of the proof of Lemma 3.2.2, see [35] and the appendix in [16].

**Lemma 3.2.3** Let  $v(y,\tau)$  solve (Pg) in  $B_R(0) \times (0,1) \subset \mathbb{R}^N \times \mathbb{R}$ , and assume further:

(A1) There exists  $\lambda_0 > 0$  and  $\lambda_1 > 0$  such that  $|B(y,\tau)| \leq \lambda_1$  and  $\lambda_0 |\xi|^2 \leq (A(y,\tau)\xi,\xi) \leq \lambda_0^{-1} |\xi|^2$ . (A2) There exists  $\lambda^2 > 0$  such that  $\int_0^1 \int_{B_R(0)} |v|^2 dy d\tau \leq \lambda_2$ . (A3) There exists  $\lambda_3 > 0$ , r > 0, and  $q \geq 1$  such that  $\frac{1}{r} + \frac{N}{2q} < 1$  and  $\int_0^1 \left( \int_{B_R(0)} |g|^q dy \right)^{\frac{r}{q}} d\tau \leq \lambda_3$ .

Then, there is a constant M (depending only on  $\lambda_0$ ,  $\lambda_1$ ,  $\lambda_2$ ,  $\lambda_3$ , r, N, q, and R) such that

$$|v| \le M \text{ in } B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0) \times \left(\frac{1}{2}, 1\right).$$
 (3.12)

The proof of Lemma 3.2.3 can be found in [52] (See Theorem 7.1 pp. 181 and Theorem 8.1 pp. 192).

# 3.3 Proof of the main results

## 3.3.1 Proof of Theorem 3.1.1

We begin the proof of our first main theorem by choosing  $T_0 \in [0, T_m)$  so that for any  $t \in [T_0, T_m)$ , we have

$$\|u(t)\|_{\infty} \ge \kappa,$$

which can be done since our solution blows up in finite time. We also fix  $t \in [T_0, T_m)$ and  $L_1 > 0$  small enough so that

$$L_1 \le \min\left\{\frac{1}{4}, T_m - t, t\right\}.$$
 (3.13)

Next, we fix  $\tau$  and  $T_1$  in  $(t, T_m)$  so that  $t < \tau \le t + L_1 < T_1 < T_m$  and

$$L_2(T_1) := \max_{\sigma \in [0,T_1]} \|u(\sigma)\|_{\infty} = 2\|u(t)\|_{\infty}.$$
(3.14)

By using (3.3) and taking  $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \infty$  together with  $\varphi = -u + f(u)$  in Lemma 3.2.1, we see that

$$\|u(\tau)\|_{\infty} \le \|u(t)\|_{\infty} + \int_{t}^{\tau} \|-u(\sigma) + f(u(\sigma))\|_{\infty} d\sigma$$
  
$$\le \|u(t)\|_{\infty} + L_{2}(T_{1})(\tau - t) + \int_{t}^{\tau} \|f(u(\sigma))\|_{\infty} d\sigma$$

Then, by using (N2) and (3.13) for the inequality above, we obtain

$$||u(\tau)||_{\infty} \le ||u(t)||_{\infty} + L_2(T_1)(\tau - t) + C_{N2}L_2(T_1)^{p-1}(T_m - t)$$

whence follows

$$L_2(T_1) \le ||u(t)||_{\infty} + \frac{1}{4}L_2(T_1) + C_{N2}L_2(T_1)^{p-1}(T_m - t)$$

in view of (3.14). We subtract  $\frac{1}{4}L_2(T_1)$  from both sides of the inequality above and use (3.14) again to see that

$$\frac{3}{4}L_2(T_1) \le \|u(t)\|_{\infty} + C_{N2}L_2(T_1)^{p-1}(T_m - t)$$
  
$$\frac{1}{2}\|u(t)\|_{\infty} \le 2^{p-1}C_{N2}\|u(t)\|_{\infty}^{p-1}(T_m - t)$$
  
$$1 \le 2^pC_{N2}\|u(t)\|_{\infty}^{p-2}(T_m - t)$$

which implies

$$\frac{1}{2^p C_{N2} (T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}} \le \|u(t)\|_{\infty}.$$

By taking  $C_L = \frac{1}{2^p C_{N2}}$ , we complete the proof of Theorem 3.1.1.

## 3.3.2 Proof of Theorem 3.1.2

Before we proceed to the details of the proof, we would like to discuss the idea of the proof. We use the parabolic estimates in Section 3.2 (Lemma 3.2.2 and Lemma 3.2.3) to bound  $v_a$  uniformly in a inside a ball. Then, we recall (3.5) to see that

$$(T_m - t)^{\beta} |u(a, t)| = |v_a(0, s)| \le \sup_{s \in [s_0, \infty))} \|v_a(s)\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0))}$$

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$  and for any  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . Therefore, if we can show the following proposition, then the conclusion of Theorem 3.1.2 is immediate.

**Proposition 3.3.1** There exists M > 0 independent of  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$||v_a(s)||_{L^{\infty}(B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0))} \le M$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ .

Before we prove Proposition 3.3.1, we need the following proposition first.

**Proposition 3.3.2 (Boundedness of energy functional)** Let  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $v_a$  be the solution of (Ps). Then, the following inequalities hold true:

$$\int_{s_0}^{\infty} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma \le E[v_a(s_0)]$$
(3.15)

$$||v_a(s)||_{2,\rho}^2 \le M_1 \text{ for any } s \ge s_0$$
 (3.16)

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} \|v_{a}(\sigma)\|_{\mu,\rho}^{2\mu} d\sigma \le M_{1} \text{ for any } s \ge s_{0}$$
(3.17)

The constant  $M_1$  depends only on  $E[v_a(s_0)]$ , N, and  $\mu$ .

**Proof of Proposition 3.3.2.** Although the proof is essentially similar to the one given in [36], we will give the sketch here for convenience.

First, we see that (3.15) follows immediately from Proposition 3.2.2 and (E02). Next, we set  $g_1 := ||v_a||_{2,\rho}$  and follow similar calculation from (3.10) to see

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}g_1(s)^2 \ge -2E[v_a(s)] + (\mu - 2)e^{-(2\beta + 1)s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} F(e^{\beta s}v_a(s))\rho dy.$$
(3.18)

Then, we fix  $\delta > 0$  and  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$  to set  $\Omega_{\delta,s} := \{y \in \mathbb{R}^N \mid |e^{\beta s}v_a(s)| \ge \delta\}$ . By using (AR) and Lemma .0.1 we see that

if 
$$|e^{\beta s}v_a(s)| > \delta$$
 then  $C_{\mu,\delta} ||v_a(s)||^{\mu}_{L^{\mu}(\Omega_{\delta}),\rho} \le e^{-(2\beta+1)s} \int_{\Omega_{\delta}} F(e^{\beta s}v_a(s))\rho dy$  (3.19)

and

if 
$$|e^{\beta s}v_a(s)| \leq \delta$$
 then  $C_{\mu,\delta} ||v_a(s)||^{\mu}_{L^{\mu}(\mathbb{R}^N \setminus \Omega_{\delta}),\rho} \leq C_{\mu,\delta} \delta^{\mu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^N} \rho dy =: K(\delta).$  (3.20)

From (3.18) and the positivity of F together with the fact that  $\Omega_{\delta,s} \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ , we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}g_1(s)^2 \ge -2E[v_a(s)] + (\mu - 2)e^{-(2\beta + 1)s} \int_{\Omega\delta,s} F(e^{\beta s}v_a(s))\rho dy$$

By adding  $\mu K(\delta)$  on both sides of the inequality above and using (AR1), we have

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}g_1(s)^2 + \mu K(\delta) \ge -2E[v_a(s)] + (\mu - 2)e^{-(2\beta + 1)s} \int_{\Omega_{\delta,s}} F(e^{\beta s}v_a(s))\rho dy + (\mu - 2)K(\delta)g_{\delta,s}$$

whence it follows that

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}g_1(s)^2 + \mu K(\delta) \ge -2E[v_a(s_0)] + C_{\mu,\delta} \|v_a(s)\|^{\mu}_{\mu,\rho}$$
(3.21)

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$  in view of (3.19) and (3.20). By applying  $L^p - L^q$  inequality on the right hand side of the inequality of (3.21), we arrive at

$$C_{\mu,\delta}g_1(s)^{\mu} \le 2E[v_a(s_0)] + \mu K(\delta) + g_1(s)\frac{dg_1(s)}{ds}$$
(3.22)

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . Then, we deduce either

$$g_1(s) \le 1 \text{ or } C_{\mu,\delta}g(s)^{\mu-1} \le \frac{dg_1(s)}{ds} + 2E[v_a(s_0)] + \mu K(\delta)$$
 (3.23)

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . If  $g_1(s) \leq 1$ , then we are done but if it is not then we need to bound  $\frac{dg_1}{ds}$  by the following inequality

$$\begin{aligned} \left|\frac{dg_1}{ds}\right|^2 &= \left|\frac{1}{g_1}\int_{\mathbb{R}^N} v_a \partial_s v_a \rho dy\right|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{1}{g_1^2} \|v_a\|_{2,\rho}^2 \|\partial_s v_a\|_{2,\rho}^2 \\ &= \|\partial_s v_a\|_{2,\rho}^2 \end{aligned}$$

which means

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} \left| \frac{dg_{1}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} \right|^{2} d\sigma \leq \int_{s}^{s+1} \|\partial_{\sigma} v_{a}(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} d\sigma$$
$$\leq E[v_{a}(s_{0})] \tag{3.24}$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . In view of (3.23), we see that

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} g_{1}(\sigma)^{2(\mu-1)} d\sigma \leq \frac{2}{C_{\mu,\delta}^{2}} \left( \int_{s}^{s+1} \left| \frac{dg_{1}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} \right|^{2} d\sigma + (2E[v_{a}(s_{0})] + \mu K(\delta))^{2} \right).$$
(3.25)

Since  $\mu > 2$  and  $g_1(s) > 1$ , we also have

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} g_{1}(\sigma)^{2} d\sigma \leq \frac{2}{C_{\mu,\delta}^{2}} \left( \int_{s}^{s+1} \left| \frac{dg_{1}(\sigma)}{d\sigma} \right|^{2} d\sigma + (2E[v_{a}(s_{0})] + \mu K(\delta))^{2} \right).$$
(3.26)

By using (3.24), (3.25), (3.26), and the following Sobolev inequality

$$\|g_1\|_{L^{\infty}(s,s+1)} \le C \left( \|g_1'\|_{L^2(s,s+1)} + \|g_1\|_{L^2(s,s+1)} \right)^{\frac{1}{\mu}} \|g_1\|_{L^{2(\mu-1)}(s,s+1)}^{1-\frac{1}{\mu}}, \tag{3.27}$$

we deduce that (3.16) holds true.

In order to show (3.17), we only need to consider (3.21) and follow the calculation below

$$\begin{aligned} \|v_a(s)\|_{\mu,\rho}^{2\mu} &\leq \frac{2}{C_{\mu,\delta}^2} (E[v_a(s_0)] + \mu K(\delta))^2 + \frac{2}{C_{\mu,\delta}^2} g_1(s)^2 \left| \frac{dg_1(s)}{ds} \right|^2 \\ &\leq \frac{2}{C_{\mu,\delta}^2} \left( (E[v_a(s_0)] + \mu K(\delta))^2 + \|g_1\|_{\infty}^2 \left| \frac{dg_1(s)}{ds} \right|^2 \right). \end{aligned}$$

By fixing  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$  and then integrating both sides of the inequality above in (s, s + 1), and observing that our bound does not depend on s in view of (3.24) together with (3.27), we immediately obtain (3.17) and complete the proof.

Although our bound in the proof of Proposition 3.3.2 requires  $\delta$ , it is essentially a constant which can be fixed arbitrarily and does not affect our results. For instance, we can simply choose  $\delta = 1$  for convenience. However, we have not shown that our bound does not depend on  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$ . In order to circumvent this problem, we also need the following lemma.

**Lemma 3.3.1**  $E[v_a(s_0)]$  varies continuously with  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and stays uniformly bounded. **Proof of Lemma 3.3.1.** Fix  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and recall (E01) to see that

$$E[v_{a}(s_{0})] = \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla v_{a}(s_{0})\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \frac{\beta + e^{-s_{0}}}{2} \|v_{a}(s_{0})\|_{2,\rho}^{2} - e^{-(2\beta+1)^{s_{0}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} F(e^{\beta s_{0}}v_{a}(s_{0}))\rho dy = T_{m}^{2\beta+1-\frac{N}{2}} \left(\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |\nabla u_{0}|^{2} \rho(\frac{x-a}{\sqrt{T_{m}}}) dx + \frac{\beta+1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} |u_{0}|^{2} \rho(\frac{x-a}{\sqrt{T_{m}}}) dx - \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} F(u_{0}) \rho(\frac{x-a}{\sqrt{T_{m}}}) dx \right)$$
(3.28)

Since  $|\rho| \leq 1$  and  $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ , we see that

$$E[v_{a}(s_{0})] \leq T_{m}^{2\beta+1-\frac{N}{2}} \left( C_{\beta} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \max\left\{ \mu \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} F(u_{0}) dx, \sup_{|u|<\kappa} |F(u)| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \rho(\frac{x}{\sqrt{T_{m}}}) dx \right\} \right)$$
  
$$\leq T_{m}^{2\beta+1-\frac{N}{2}} \left( C_{\beta} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \max\left\{ C_{N2} \|u_{0}\|_{p}^{p}, C_{T_{M}} \sup_{|u|<\kappa} |F(u)| \right\} \right)$$
  
$$\leq T_{m}^{2\beta+1-\frac{N}{2}} \left( C_{\beta} \|u_{0}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \max\left\{ C_{N2} \|u_{0}\|_{\infty}^{p-2} \|u_{0}\|_{2}^{2}, C_{T_{M}} \sup_{|u|<\kappa} |F(u)| \right\} \right)$$
  
$$< \infty$$

which means  $E[v_a(s_0)]$  is uniformly bounded with respect to  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$ .

Continuity follows from standard argument by applying Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem to (3.28) for any sequence  $(a_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  which converges to a as  $n \to \infty$ . Hence, our proof is complete.

Now, we will prove Proposition 3.3.1. The idea here is to apply Lemma 3.2.3 and obtain an estimate inside an arbitrary ball that does not depend on s.

**Proof of Proposition 3.3.1.** First, we set  $A^{ij} = \delta^{ij}$ ,  $B^i = \frac{1}{2}y^i$ , and

$$g = \beta + e^{-s} - \frac{e^{-(\beta+1)s}f(e^{\beta s}v_a)}{v_a}$$

for any  $i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., N\}$  in (Pg). Then, we fix R > 0 and choose  $\lambda_0 = 1$  and  $\lambda_1 = R$  to see that (A1) is satisfied. (A2) is immediate from (3.16). It only remains to show that (A3) holds true.

In order to show (A3) holds true, we begin by setting  $\frac{N}{2}(\mu - 2) \le r < \frac{2(\mu+1)}{3}$  and  $q = \frac{r}{\mu-2}$ . Following this, we may use condition (N1) to see that

$$\left|\frac{e^{-(\beta+1)s}f(e^{\beta s}v_a)}{v_a}\right| \le \max\left\{e^{\frac{p-\mu}{\mu-2}s}|v_a(s)|, e^{-s}C_{\kappa}\right\} \le e^{\frac{p-\mu}{\mu-2}s}|v_a(s)| + C_{\kappa}$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . Then, we proceed with the following estimate

.

$$\begin{split} \int_{s}^{s+1} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |g|^{q} dy \right)^{\frac{r}{q}} d\tau &\leq \int_{s}^{s+1} \left( (\beta + e^{-\tau}) \operatorname{measure}(B_{R}(0))^{\frac{1}{q}} \right. \\ &+ \left\| e^{-(\beta+1)\tau} \frac{f(e^{\beta\tau} v_{a}(\tau))}{v_{a}(\tau)} \right\|_{L^{q}(B_{R}(0))} \right)^{r} d\tau \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{s+1} \left( C_{1,\beta,q,R} + C_{\kappa} \operatorname{measure}(B_{R}(0))^{\frac{1}{q}} + e^{\frac{p-\mu}{\mu-2}\tau} C_{N2} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |v_{a}(\tau)|^{(p-2)q} dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right)^{r} d\tau \\ &= \int_{s}^{s+1} \left( C_{1,\beta,q,R,\kappa} + e^{\frac{p-\mu}{\mu-2}\tau} C_{N2} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |v_{a}(\tau)|^{(p-2)q} dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right)^{r} d\tau \end{split}$$

Since we assume  $\mu = p$ , we see that

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |g|^{q} dy \right)^{\frac{r}{q}} d\tau \leq \int_{s}^{s+1} \left( C_{1,\beta,q,R,\kappa} + C_{N2} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |v_{a}(\tau)|^{r} dy \right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \right)^{r} d\tau.$$
(3.29)

It remains to bound  $||v(\tau)||_{L^r(B_R(0))}^r$  by using Lemma 3.2.2. Here, we take  $\mu' = \mu = p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  and recall Proposition 3.3.2 with Lemma 3.3.1 to deduce

$$\sup_{\tau \in (s,s+1)} \int_{B_R(0)} |v_a(\tau)|^r d\tau \le C_{2,\mu,N}$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$  which means the right hand side of (3.29) is bounded by a constant whence it follows that

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} \left( \int_{B_{R}(0)} |g|^{q} dy \right)^{\frac{r}{q}} d\tau \leq C_{3,N,\mu,R,\kappa}$$

in view of (3.29). By taking  $\lambda_3 = C_{3,N,\mu,R,\kappa}$ , we infer (A3) holds true. Therefore, applying Lemma 3.2.3, we conclude that

there exists 
$$M_2 > 0$$
 such that  $|v_a| \le M_2$  on  $B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0) \times \left(s + \frac{1}{2}, s + 1\right)$ 

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ . Here,  $M_2$  only depends on N,  $\mu$ , R, and  $\kappa$ . Therefore, we can deduce that

$$\sup_{s \in (s_0 + \frac{1}{2}, \infty)} \| v_a(s) \|_{L^{\infty}(B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0))} < M_2.$$

It remains to show the estimate for  $[s_0, s_0 + \frac{1}{2}]$  which is immediate since our solution is a classical one. Hence, we conclude this proposition is true.

Now, we are ready to prove Theorem 3.1.2 by observing that

$$(T_m - t)^{\beta} |u(a, t)| \le M$$

for any  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$ . Note that M does not depend on a which means we can obtain

$$(T_m - t)^{\beta} \sup_{a \in \mathbb{R}} |u(a, t)| \le M$$

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$  which completes the proof of Theorem 3.1.2.

## **3.4** Extension to a system of equations

In this section, we consider the following system of semilinear heat equations

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u - u + f(u, v) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m) \\ \partial_t v = \Delta v - v + g(u, v) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m) \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \\ v(\cdot, 0) = v_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \end{cases}$$
(P1)

where  $u_0, v_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1_0(\mathbb{R}^N)$ . We impose the following conditions for f and g:

- (SN1) Function  $f, g: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  are locally Lipschitz in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ , f(0,0) = g(0,0) = 0, and  $\lim_{|(u,v)|\to 0} \frac{|f(u,v)|}{|(u,v)|} = \lim_{|(u,v)|\to 0} \frac{|g(u,v)|}{|(u,v)|} = 0.$
- (SN2) There exists  $\alpha' > 1$ ,  $\beta' > 1$  with  $\alpha' + \beta' = p \in (2, 2^*)$ ,  $\kappa_S > 0$ , and  $C_{SN2} > 0$ such that  $|f(u, v)| \leq C_{SN2} |u|^{\alpha'-1} |v|^{\beta'}$  and  $|g(u, v)| \leq C_{SN2} |u|^{\alpha'} |v|^{\beta'-1}$  for any  $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$  with  $|(u, v)| \geq \kappa_S$ .
- (SAR) There exists  $F: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  which satisfies the following conditions:
  - (SAR0)  $\nabla F(u, v) = (f(u, v), g(u, v))^{\mathsf{T}}$  For any  $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .
  - (SAR1) F is positive in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}.$
  - (SAR2) There exists  $\mu > 2$  such that  $\mu F(u, v) \leq uf(u, v) + vg(u, v)$  for any  $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

Condition (SN1), (SN2), and (SAR) correspond to (N1), (N2), and (AR) respectively for the single equation case.

We only consider the time-local classical solution which blows up in finite time with respect to (P1) throughout this section which occurs as follows:

$$||u(t)||_{\infty} + ||v(t)||_{\infty} \to \infty \text{ as } t \uparrow T_m$$
(3.30)

The corresponding main results for the system case read as follows:

**Theorem 3.4.1 (Lower estimate of blow-up rate)** Under (SN1), (SN2), and (SAR), every time-local solution (u, v) to (P1) which blows up in finite time satisfies the following lower blow-up estimate:

there exists 
$$C_L > 0$$
 s.t.  $\frac{C_L}{(T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{p-2}}} \le ||u(t)||_{\infty} + ||v(t)||_{\infty}$  (SBRL)

for any t sufficiently close to  $T_m$ .

Theorem 3.4.1 corresponds to Theorem 3.1.1 in the single equation case. The proof of Theorem 3.4.1 follows the argument from the proof of Theorem 3.1.1 in the single equation case. Therefore, the details of the proof can be omitted for the sake of brevity.

**Theorem 3.4.2 (Upper estimate of blow-up rate)** Assume  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  and  $\mu = p$ . Then, under (SN1), (SN2), and (SAR), every time-local solution u to (P) which blows up in finite time satisfies the following upper blow-up estimate:

there exists 
$$C_U > 0$$
 s.t.  $||u(t)||_{\infty} + ||v(t)||_{\infty} \le \frac{C_U}{(T_m - t)^{\frac{1}{\mu - 2}}}$  (SBRU)

for any  $t \in [0, T_m)$ .

Theorem 3.4.2 corresponds to Theorem 3.1.2 in the single equation case.

Now, we introduce similar variable transformation as in (3.4) to define:

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{u}_{a}(y,s) &:= (T_{m}-t)^{\beta}u(x,t), \\ \tilde{v}_{a}(y,s) &:= (T_{m}-t)^{\beta}v(x,t), \end{cases}$$
(3.31)

which corresponds to (3.5) in the single equation case. Following the similar variable transformation from above, (P1) is transformed into a new parabolic equation as follows

$$\begin{cases} \partial s \tilde{u}_{a} = \Delta \tilde{u}_{a} - \frac{1}{2} y \cdot \nabla \tilde{u}_{a} - (\beta + e^{-s}) \tilde{u}_{a} + e^{-(\beta+1)s} f(e^{\beta s} \tilde{u}_{a}, e^{\beta s} \tilde{v}_{a}) & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{N} \times (s_{0} \times \infty), \\ \partial s \tilde{v}_{a} = \Delta \tilde{v}_{a} - \frac{1}{2} y \cdot \nabla \tilde{v}_{a} - (\beta + e^{-s}) \tilde{v}_{a} + e^{-(\beta+1)s} g(e^{\beta s} \tilde{u}_{a}, e^{\beta s} \tilde{v}_{a}) & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{N} \times (s_{0} \times \infty), \\ \tilde{u}_{a}(\cdot, s_{0}) = e^{-\beta s_{0}} u_{0} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{N}, \\ \tilde{v}_{a}(\cdot, s_{0}) = e^{-\beta s_{0}} v_{0} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{N}, \end{cases}$$

$$(P1s)$$

where  $s_0 := -\log T_m$ .

Next, we can define the following energy functionals associated with (P1s) as

follows:

and

$$\tilde{K}[\tilde{u}_{a}, \tilde{v}_{a}(s)] := \|\nabla \tilde{u}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \|\nabla \tilde{v}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + (\beta + e^{-s})(\|\tilde{u}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \|\tilde{v}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2}) 
- e^{-(2\beta+1)s} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} [e^{\beta s} \tilde{u}_{a}(s) f(e^{\beta s} \tilde{u}_{a}(s), e^{\beta s} \tilde{v}_{a}(s)) 
+ e^{\beta s} \tilde{v}_{a}(s) g(e^{\beta s} \tilde{u}_{a}(s), e^{\beta s} \tilde{v}_{a}(s))] \rho dy.$$
(sK01)

Here,  $\tilde{E}$  and  $\tilde{K}$  correspond to E and K respectively in the single equation case. Similar to the single equation case, we also have the following propositions and lemma for the system of equations.

## Proposition 3.4.1 (Energy equalities for system of equations)

Let  $(\tilde{u}_a, \tilde{v}_a)$  be a solution of (P1s). We have the following energy identities:

$$\frac{d}{ds}\tilde{E}[\tilde{u}_{a}(s),\tilde{v}_{a}(s)] = -(\|\partial_{s}\tilde{u}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2} + \|\partial_{s}\tilde{v}_{a}(s)\|_{2,\rho}^{2})$$
(sE02)

and

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{ds}(\|\tilde{u}_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 + \|\tilde{v}_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2) = -\tilde{K}[\tilde{u}_a(s), \tilde{v}_a(s)].$$
(sK02)

**Proposition 3.4.2 (Concavity argument for system of equations)** If  $(\tilde{u}_a, \tilde{v}_a)$  is a time-global solution of (P1s), then

$$\tilde{E}[\tilde{u}_a(s), \tilde{v}_a(s)] \ge 0 \tag{3.32}$$

for anys  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ .

**Lemma 3.4.1**  $\tilde{E}[\tilde{u}_a(s_0), \tilde{v}_a(s_0)]$  varies continuously with  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and stays uniformly bounded.

Proposition 3.4.1, Proposition 3.4.2, and Lemma 3.4.1 correspond to Proposition 3.2.1, Proposition 3.2.2, and Lemma 3.3.1 respectively in the single equation case. Since the proof follows the argument as in the single equation case, it will be omitted for the sake of brevity.

We will prove Theorem 3.4.2 now. The proof of Theorem 3.4.2 is essentially the same as the single equation case. Therefore, we only need to prove the following proposition which corresponds to Proposition 3.3.1 in the single equation case.

**Proposition 3.4.3** There exists M > 0 independent of  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  such that

$$\|\tilde{u}_{a}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}\left(B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0)\right)} + \|\tilde{v}_{a}(s)\|_{L^{\infty}\left(B_{\frac{R}{2}}(0)\right)} \le M$$

for any  $s \in [s_0, \infty)$ .

The proof of Proposition 3.4.3 is essentially the same with the proof of Proposition 3.3.1. However, we need to replace Proposition (3.3.2) with the following proposition:

**Proposition 3.4.4** Let  $a \in \mathbb{R}^N$  and  $(\tilde{u}_a, \tilde{v}_a)$  be the solution of (P1s). Then, the following relations hold true:

$$\int_{s_0}^{\infty} \|\partial_{\sigma} \tilde{u}_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 + \|\partial_{\sigma} \tilde{v}_a(\sigma)\|_{2,\rho}^2 d\sigma = \tilde{E}[\tilde{u}_a(s_0), \tilde{v}_a(s_0)]$$
(5.4a)

$$\|\tilde{u}_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 + \|\tilde{v}_a(s)\|_{2,\rho}^2 \le M_1 \text{ for all } s \ge s_0$$
(5.4b)

$$\int_{s}^{s+1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} (|\tilde{u}_{a}(s)|^{2} + |\tilde{v}_{a}(s)|^{2})^{\frac{\mu}{2}} \rho dy d\sigma \le M_{1} \text{ for all } s \ge s_{0}$$
(5.4c)

The constant  $M_1$  depends only on  $\tilde{E}[\tilde{u}_a(s_0), \tilde{v}_a(s_0)]$ , N, and  $\mu$ .

The proof of Proposition 3.4.4 is essentially similar to the proof of Proposition 3.3.2 in the single equation case.

We follow the proof of Proposition 3.3.1 to show that Proposition 3.4.3 holds true by replacing Proposition 3.3.2 with Proposition 3.4.4. the argument to both  $\tilde{u}_a$  and  $\tilde{v}_a$ . Hence, we can finally conclude that Theorem 3.4.2 is true and complete the proof our main results for the system of equations.

# Chapter 4

# $L^{\infty}$ Bounds for time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations

In this chapter, we consider a system of semilinear heat equations with a subcritical Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz nonlinear term in the sense of Sobolev embedding. Our main goal in this study is to establish the existence of  $L^{\infty}$  global bounds for the timeglobal solutions of such a system of semilinear heat equations. In order to obtain our main goal, we mainly use scaling argument to our time global solution to find nontrivial blow-up profile and proceed to show that it is actually trivial by using the compactness of the orbit of solutions in  $L^q$  space for  $q \in [2, 2^*)$  which results in a contradiction. The method above is also applicable to show the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for semilinear heat equations with critical polynomial nonlinearity.

# 4.1 Introduction and main result

Let  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ , A is a real symmetric  $2 \times 2$  matrix, and  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  is a bounded smooth domain. The critical Sobolev exponent is denoted by  $2^*$  which is defined as  $2^* := \frac{2N}{N-2}$  when  $N \ge 3$  and  $2^* := \infty$  when N = 1, 2. We also let  $\vec{U} := (u_1, u_2)$  and  $\partial_t \vec{U} := (\partial_t u_1, \partial_t u_2)$ . Consider the following system of semilinear heat equations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \vec{U} = \Delta \vec{U} + A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} + \nabla F(\vec{U}) & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ \vec{U} = \vec{0} & \text{on } \partial \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ \vec{U}(\cdot, 0) = \vec{U}_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(P)

where  $\vec{U}_0 \in (L^{\infty}(\Omega) \times L^{\infty}(\Omega)) \cap (H^1_0(\Omega) \times H^1_0(\Omega))$  for simplicity and  $T_m$  denotes the maximal existence time of a classical solution to (P). Our assumptions on the nonlinearity  $\nabla F$  are the following:

- (N1) Let  $\nabla F = (f_1, f_2)$ . The functions  $f_1, f_2 : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  are locally Lipschitz in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ and satisfy  $f_1(\vec{0}) = f_2(\vec{0}) = 0$ .
- (N2) There exists  $\alpha > 1$ ,  $\beta > 1$  satisfying  $\alpha + \beta = p \in [2 + \frac{2}{N}, 2^*)$ , and  $C_{N2} > 0$  satisfying  $|f_1(\vec{U})| \le C_{N2} |u_1|^{\alpha-1} |u_2|^{\beta}$  and  $|f_2(\vec{U})| \le C_{N2} |u_1|^{\alpha} |u_2|^{\beta-1}$  for any  $\vec{U} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .
- (AR) There exists  $F : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$  which satisfies the following conditions:
  - (AR0) The function F is the antiderivative of  $\nabla F$ .
  - (AR1) F is positive in  $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \{\vec{0}\}$ .
  - (AR2) There exists  $\mu > 2$  such that  $\mu F(\vec{U}) \leq \vec{U} \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U})$  for any  $\vec{U} \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

These conditions imply the nonlinearity has a variational form (AR0) with a subcritical growth in the Sobolev sense of (N2), and a positive primitive function F which satisfies the Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition (AR2).

In the proof of our main result, we are working in the space  $L^{p_0}(\Omega)$  with  $p_0 := \frac{N}{2}(p-2)$  which is invariant under the scaling (4.20) in Section 2. We see that

$$1 \le p_0 < 2^*$$
 (4.1)

is assured by the assumption

$$p \ge 2 + \frac{2}{N}$$
 and  $p < 2^*$ 

respectively, i.e., the condition (N2) assures (4.1), the well-definedness of  $L^{p_0}(\Omega)$  and the subcriticality of  $p_0$  in the Sobolev sense.

An example which satisfies the assumptions above is

$$F(\vec{U}) = u_1^2 \log(1 + |u_1|^2) u_2^2 \tag{4.2}$$

which gives

$$\begin{cases} f_1(\vec{U}) &= 2u_1 \log(1+|u_1|^2) + \frac{2u_1^3 u_2^2}{1+|u_1|^2}, \\ f_2(\vec{U}) &= 2u_1^2 \log(1+|u_1|^2)u_2. \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

Indeed, it is easy to see that F,  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  satisfy (N1), (N2), and (AR) by taking  $\alpha = 2, \beta = 2$  and  $\mu = 2.1$ .

Let A be a  $2 \times 2$  symmetric real matrix in (P) where  $\underline{\lambda}$  and  $\overline{\lambda}$  are the eigenvalues of A satisfying  $\underline{\lambda} \leq \overline{\lambda}$ . We assume

(AN) 
$$\overline{\lambda} < \lambda_1$$
,

where  $\lambda_1$  denotes the first eigenvalue of  $-\Delta$  in  $\Omega$  with the homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition. By recalling the Poincaré inequality

$$\|\phi\|_{2}^{2} \leq \frac{1}{\lambda_{1}} \|\nabla\phi\|_{2}^{2} \quad (\phi \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega)),$$
(4.4)

we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} (\phi_1, \phi_2) A(\phi_1, \phi_2)^{\mathsf{T}} dx \le \bar{\lambda} (\|\phi_1\|_2^2 + \|\phi_2\|_2^2) \le \frac{\bar{\lambda}}{\lambda_1} (\|\nabla\phi_1\|_2^2 + \|\nabla\phi_2\|_2^2)$$

which means

$$\|\nabla\phi_1\|_2^2 + \|\nabla\phi_2\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} (\phi_1, \phi_2) A(\phi_1, \phi_2)^{\mathsf{T}} dx \ge \left(1 - \frac{\bar{\lambda}}{\lambda_1}\right) \left(\|\nabla\phi_1\|_2^2 + \|\nabla\phi_2\|_2^2\right) \ge 0$$
(4.5)

for  $(\phi_1, \phi_2) \in H_0^1(\Omega) \times H_0^1(\Omega)$  in view of (AN). This condition is used to assure the conclusion of Proposition 4.2.1 which claims the nonnegativity of the energy functional along the orbit. It also assures the solution stays bounded in  $H_0^1(\Omega) \times H_0^1(\Omega)$  along any time sequence under some appropriate conditions (see Lemma 4.2.3). The boundedness of time-global solutions in  $H_0^1(\Omega) \times H_0^1(\Omega)$  in Lemma 4.3.1 is also assured by this condition.

We assume  $T_m = \infty$ , i.e., we only consider time-global classical solutions to (P) throughout this chapter. For the single equation case, the existence of a time-global solution is well-known, see e.g. [78], [87], and the references therein. The existence of a time-global solution for (P) also follows from a similar argument as above.

Let us define the following notation:

$$\|\vec{U}\|_{\infty} := \|u_1\|_{\infty} + \|u_2\|_{\infty}$$

In this chapter, we are concerned with the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for timeglobal solutions, which is defined as:

**Definition 4.1.1** A time-global classical solution  $\vec{U}$  to (P) is said to have an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bound if

$$\sup_{t\in[0,\infty)}\|\vec{U}(t)\|_{\infty}<\infty.$$

Our main result reads as follows:

**Theorem 4.1.1 (Main Theorem)** Under (N1), (N2), (AR), and (AN), every timeglobal classical solution to (P) has an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bound.

There have been a lot of studies on semilinear parabolic partial differential equations (see e.g. [11], [13], [15], [32], [44], [57], [54], [52], etc). However, most of the results are related to single semilinear parabolic equations with polynomial nonlinearity. As an example, let  $N \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $a \in \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\theta \in (2, 2^*)$ ,  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$  be a bounded smooth domain, and consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u + au + u|u|^{\theta-2} & \text{in } \Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ u(\cdot,t) = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0,\infty), \\ u(\cdot,0) = u_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(P0)

where  $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap H_0^1(\Omega)$  (for simplicity). Generally, a solution to (P0) either blows up in finite time or exists globally in time (see e.g. [78, pp.188]). As for the analysis of the asymptotics of time-global solutions, the first step is to obtain several time-global bounds on the norm of solutions.

The first attempt in this direction was done by Otani in [69] and [70], in which time-global bounds for the Sobolev norm of solutions of (P0) with  $\theta \in (2, 2^*)$  is obtained in the framework of the theory of abstract evolution equations governed by the difference of subdifferentials. This result also covers the case where the principal part is a nonlinear operator (say, *p*-Laplacian).

As for the concrete problem (P0), Ni, Sacks, and Tavantzis obtained the following results in [66] when  $\Omega$  is a convex domain and  $u_0 \ge 0$ :

(i) If  $\theta \in (2, 2 + \frac{2}{N})$ , then every time-global solution is uniformly bounded. (ii) If  $\theta \ge 2^*$  and  $N \ge 3$ , then there exists a time-global solution that is not uniformly bounded.

Following these results, Cazenave and Lions showed in [16] that every time-global solution to (P0) has a time-global bound in the sense of  $L^{\infty}$  if  $\theta \in (2, 2^*)$  (subcritical case). The bounds they obtained only depend on the  $H_0^1$ -norm of  $u_0$  if 2 < p for N = 1 and  $2 for <math>N \ge 2$ . Also, Ôtani obtained in [71] the corresponding results for the case of Neumann boundary condition. For the homogeneous Dirichlet boundary condition case, Giga removed in [37] the restriction above on p for nonnegative time-global solutions. Finally, in [77], Quittner improved the results in [16, 37] by removing the nonnegativity assumption.

The known major method used in the works above is two-folds. One is based on the combined use of the energy estimates and parabolic estimates (see e.g. [16] or [71]) in which the subcriticality assumption is crucial to assure the validity of various inequalities used in the argument. The other one is based on the blowup (or scaling) argument together with the Liouville property for the stationary problem in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ , i.e., the nonexistence of nontrivial nonnegative stationary solution (see e.g. [37]). Note that this method also essentially requires the subcriticality (and nonnegativity) assumption since the Liouville property in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  only holds for the subcritical and nonnegative cases.

Ishiwata proposed the third method in [47] which is based on the compactness of the solution orbit in the scale-invariant Lebesgue space together with the blow-up argument. More precisely, it is proved in [47] that the compactness of the solution orbit in the scale-invariant Lebesgue space is equivalent to the existence of an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bound. Since the Palais-Smale condition along the orbit assures the compactness of the orbit, the result above gives a unified approach including both the subcritical and the critical case.

Note that, in [47], we only consider single equations with polynomial nonlinearities. In this chapter, we will study the existence of time-global bounds in the spirit of [47] for solutions to a system of semilinear parabolic equations with general nonlinearities which is not covered in [47]. The discussion of the existence of an  $L^{\infty}$ -global bound for a parabolic system with critical Sobolev nonlinearity in the same spirit will be given in the forthcoming paper [18].

The structure of this chapter is as follows. In section 2, we introduce some preliminary facts associated with (P) whereas the proof of our main result will be given in section 3. The appendix deals with technical backgrounds.

Let  $\vec{U} := (u_1, u_2)$  and  $H_0^1(\Omega) \times H_0^1(\Omega)$  as H throughout this chapter and define its norm as follows:

$$\|\vec{U}\|_{H}^{2} := \|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}}^{2} + \|u_{2}\|_{H^{1}}^{2},$$
  
$$\|\nabla\vec{U}\|_{2}^{2} := \|\nabla u_{1}\|_{2}^{2} + \|\nabla u_{2}\|_{2}^{2}$$

for any  $\vec{U} \in H$ . Assume  $q \in [1, 2^*)$ . Similarly as above, we will also define the following notations:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\vec{U}\|_{q}^{q} &:= \|u_{1}\|_{q}^{q} + \|u_{2}\|_{q}^{q}, \\ |\vec{U}|_{\infty} &:= |u_{1}| + |u_{2}|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.6)$$

For convenience, let X be an abstract space of functions and  $\vec{V} = (v_1, v_2)$ . To avoid confusion, we clarify the use of the following notations:

$$(X)^2 := X \times X,$$
  

$$\nabla \vec{U} \cdot \nabla \vec{V} := \nabla u_1 \cdot \nabla v_1 + \nabla u_2 \cdot \nabla v_2,$$
  

$$\vec{U} \circ \vec{V} := (u_1 v_1, u_2 v_2).$$

For  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, \infty)$ , we denote

$$\vec{U}(t_n)$$
 as  $\vec{U}_n$ 

throughout this chapter unless it is stated otherwise.

# 4.2 Preliminaries

In this section, we introduce basic tools concerning the energy structure and the scaling structure associated with (P). First, we define the energy and the Nehari functional associated with (P) as follows:

$$I[\vec{U}] := \frac{1}{2} \|\nabla \vec{U}\|_2^2 - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} F(\vec{U}) dx, \tag{I1}$$

$$J[\vec{U}] := \|\nabla \vec{U}\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}) dx, \qquad (J1)$$

where  $\vec{U} \in H$ . Then we have:

**Lemma 4.2.1 (Energy equalities)** Every solution  $\vec{U}$  of (P) satisfies the following energy equalities:

$$\frac{d}{dt}I[\vec{U}(t)] = -\|\partial_t \vec{U}(t)\|_2^2,$$
(I2)

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|\vec{U}(t)\|_2^2 = -J[\vec{U}(t)],\tag{J2}$$

for  $t \in (0, T_m)$ .

The relation (I2) (respectively, (J2)) is easily obtained by multiplying  $\partial_t \vec{U}$  (respectively,  $\vec{U}$ ) to (P) and integrating over  $\Omega$ .

Note that (I2) implies the energy functional I is non-increasing in time along the solution orbit. Now, we will show that the energy functional I is nonnegative along the solution orbit for the time-global solution which follows from the concavity argument (see e.g. [54, pp.373, Theorem I]).

### Proposition 4.2.1 (Nonnegativity of energy functional)

Let  $\vec{U}$  be a global classical solution of (P). Then, we have

$$I[U(t)] \ge 0 \text{ for any } t \in [0, \infty).$$

$$(4.7)$$

The proof will be given in the appendix. By using (I2) and Proposition 4.2.1, we have the existence of  $L \ge 0$  such that

$$I[\dot{U}(t)] \to L \text{ as } t \to \infty.$$
 (4.8)

Associated with this limit, we introduce a condition on  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, \infty]$  with  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ :

(PS) 
$$I[\vec{U}(t_n)] \to L \text{ and } (dI)_{\vec{U}(t_n)} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty \text{ in } H^*,$$

where  $(dI)_{\vec{U}(t_n)}$  is the Fréchet derivative of I at  $\vec{U}(t_n)$  in H and  $H^*$  is the dual space of H. Note that for  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  with (PS), the sequence  $(\vec{U}(t_n))_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a Palais-Smale sequence, see e.g. [85, pp.70] and [89, pp.13, Definition 1.16]. Now we show

**Lemma 4.2.2** Let  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence with  $t_n \to \infty$  and  $\|\partial_t \vec{U}(t_n)\|_2^2 \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Then,  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  satisfies (PS).

**Proof of Lemma 4.2.2.** For simplicity, we denote  $\vec{U}(t_n)$  as  $\vec{U}_n$  and  $\partial_t \vec{U}(t_n)$  as  $\partial_t \vec{U}_n$ . For any fixed  $\vec{\phi} \in H$  with  $\|\phi\|_H = 1$ , we see that

$$\begin{split} |(dI)_{\vec{U}_n}[\vec{\phi}]| &= \left| \int_{\Omega} \left( \nabla \vec{U}_n \cdot \nabla \vec{\phi} - \vec{U}_n A \vec{\phi}^{\mathsf{T}} - \vec{\phi} \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) \right) dx \\ &= \left| \int_{\Omega} \partial_t \vec{U}_n \cdot \vec{\phi} dx \right| \\ &\leq \|\vec{\phi}\|_2 \|\partial_t \vec{U}_n\|_2 \leq \|\vec{\phi}\|_H \|\partial_t \vec{U}_n\|_2 = \|\partial_t \vec{U}_n\|_2, \end{split}$$

which together with the assumption and (4.8) yield the conclusion.

**Lemma 4.2.3** Suppose  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset [0, \infty)$  satisfies  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  and (PS). Then  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is bounded in H and there holds

$$J[\vec{U}_n] \to 0, \quad \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n A \vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx \le \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}} + o(1)$$
(4.9)

as  $n \to \infty$ , where  $\vec{U}_n := \vec{U}(t_n)$ .

**Proof of Lemma 4.2.3.** We observe that, by (PS),

$$\frac{\left|J[\vec{U}_{n}]\right|}{\|\vec{U}_{n}\|_{H}} = \frac{\left|(dI)_{\vec{U}_{n}}[\vec{U}_{n}]\right|}{\|\vec{U}_{n}\|_{H}} \le \|(dI)_{\vec{U}_{n}}\|_{H^{*}} \to 0$$
(4.10)

as  $n \to \infty$ . In view of (4.8) and (AR2), we also see that

$$L + o(1) = I[\vec{U}_n]$$
  

$$\geq \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n A \vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx \right) - \frac{1}{\mu} \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) dx \quad (n \to \infty),$$

which together with (J1), yields

$$L + o(1) \ge \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}\right) \left( \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n A \vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx \right) + \frac{1}{\mu} J[\vec{U}_n]$$
(4.11)

as  $n \to \infty$ . By taking  $(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \vec{U}_n$  in (4.5), we see that the quadratic form in the right hand side of (4.11) is nonnegative in view of (AN). From this fact, we will prove the boundedness of  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in H by using (4.10) and (4.11). Indeed, if not, there

exists a subsequence such that  $\|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_H \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  in view of the Poincaré inequality (4.4). Then we have, from (4.10),

$$\frac{\left|J[\vec{U}_{n}]\right|}{\|\nabla\vec{U}_{n}\|_{2}} \leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{\lambda_{1}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \frac{\left|J[\vec{U}_{n}]\right|}{\|\vec{U}_{n}\|_{H}} \to 0$$
(4.12)

as  $n \to \infty$ .

By taking  $(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \vec{U}_n$  in (4.5), substituting it into (4.11), and then dividing the result by  $\|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2$ , we have

$$o(1) = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}\right) \left(1 - \frac{\overline{\lambda}}{\lambda_1}\right) \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2$$

in view of (4.12) as  $n \to \infty$ , which is absurd since  $\|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2 \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  and

$$1 - \frac{\bar{\lambda}}{\lambda_1} > 0 \tag{4.13}$$

in view of (AN). Hence,  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in H.

This boundedness together with (4.10) yields

$$J[\vec{U}_n] \to 0 \quad (n \to \infty),$$

the first relation in (4.9). This relation and (4.11) together with the fact that  $\mu > 2$  imply the second relation in (4.9) which completes the proof.

Now we show the compactness of the solution orbit in H along a time sequence satisfying (PS):

**Proposition 4.2.2** Assume  $\vec{U}$  is a time-global solution to (P). Then, for any time sequence  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset [0,\infty)$  with  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  satisfying (PS),  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is compact in H where  $\vec{U}_n = \vec{U}(t_n)$ .

**Proof of Proposition 4.2.2.** Let  $\vec{U}$  and  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be as in the assumption. By Lemma 4.2.3,  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is weakly convergent in H along a subsequence. Since p in (N2) is subcritical, we can use the compact Sobolev embedding  $H \hookrightarrow (L^p(\Omega))^2$  to deduce that, by taking a subsequence if necessary,

$$\vec{U_n} \to \vec{U_*} \text{ in } (L^p(\Omega))^2 \text{ and in } H \quad (n \to \infty)$$

$$(4.14)$$

where  $\vec{U}_*$  is the weak limit of  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  in H.

Note that this convergence and (N2) assure  $\nabla F(\vec{U}_n) \to \nabla F(\vec{U}_*)$  in  $(L^{\frac{p}{p-1}}(\Omega))^2$  as  $n \to \infty$ , hence we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) dx \to \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_*) dx \quad (n \to \infty).$$
(4.15)

Since  $(t_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  satisfies (PS) and  $U_* \in H$ , we observe

$$0 = (dI)_{\vec{U}_n}[\vec{U}_*] + o(1) \quad (n \to \infty).$$

Then, by using the weak convergence of  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in H and (4.15), we have

$$0 = (dI)_{\vec{U}_n}[\vec{U}_*] + o(1) = \|\nabla \vec{U}_*\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* A \vec{U}_*^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_*) dx + o(1)$$

as  $n \to \infty$ , thus

$$\|\nabla \vec{U}_*\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* A \vec{U}_*^{\mathsf{T}} dx = \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_*) dx.$$
(4.16)

On the other hand, by (4.14), we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n A \vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx \to \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* A \vec{U}_*^{\mathsf{T}} dx \quad (n \to \infty).$$
(4.17)

Again by (4.14) and (4.15), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) dx \to \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_*) dx$$
(4.18)

as  $n \to \infty$  up to a subsequence. By recalling  $J[\vec{U}_n] \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$  in Lemma 4.2.3 and using (4.17) together with (4.18), we obtain

$$o(1) = J[\vec{U}_n] = \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n A \vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) dx$$
$$= \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* A \vec{U}_*^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_* \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_*) dx + o(1)$$
(4.19)

as  $n \to \infty$ . Now we conclude that

$$o(1) = \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \|\nabla \vec{U}_*\|_2^2 \quad (n \to \infty)$$

in view of (4.16) and (4.19), which together with (4.14) shows  $(\vec{U}_n)_{n\mathbb{N}}$  is compact in H.

Next, we introduce the scale transformation which will be used in the proof of our main result. Let  $\lambda > 0$ ,  $x_* \in \mathbb{R}^N$ ,  $t_* \in [0, \infty)$ , and we introduce the following variable transformations:

$$\begin{cases} y := \lambda(x - x_*), \ s := \lambda^2(t - t_*), \\ \tilde{U}_{\lambda}(y, s) := \lambda^{\frac{-2}{p-2}} \vec{U}(x, t). \end{cases}$$
(4.20)

Then, by substituting (4.20) into (P), we obtain

$$\partial_s \tilde{U}_{\lambda} = \Delta \tilde{U}_{\lambda} + \lambda^{-2} A \tilde{U}_{\lambda}^{\mathsf{T}} + \lambda^{\frac{-2}{p-2}} \nabla F(\lambda^{\frac{2}{p-2}} \tilde{U}_{\lambda}).$$
(P1)

We set

$$p_0 := \frac{N}{2} (p - 2). \tag{4.21}$$

Note that  $p_0 \ge 1$  under the assumption  $p \ge 2 + \frac{2}{N}$  in (N2) and we obtain the scale-invariance of  $L^{p_0}$ -norm as follows:

**Lemma 4.2.4** Let  $\omega \subset \mathbb{R}^N$ , I = (a, b),  $\omega_{\lambda} := \lambda(\omega - x_*)$ , and  $I_{\lambda} := (a_{\lambda}, b_{\lambda})$ , where  $a_{\lambda} := \lambda^2(a - t_*)$  and  $b_{\lambda} := \lambda^2(b - t_*)$ . Then, the following statements hold true:

(i) The  $(L^{p_0})^2$ -norm is invariant under the variable transformation in (4.20), i.e.,

$$\|\vec{U}\|_{p_0,\omega} = \|\tilde{U}_\lambda\|_{p_0,\omega_\lambda}.$$

(ii) Moreover, we also have

$$\|\partial_s \tilde{U}_\lambda\|_{L^2(I_\lambda; L^2(\omega_\lambda))}^2 = \lambda^{-(\frac{4}{p-2}+2-N)} \|\partial_t \vec{U}\|_{L^2(I; L^2(\omega))}^2$$

#### Proof of Lemma 4.2.4.

(i) The conclusion for u easily follows from the relation

$$\|\tilde{U}_{\lambda}\|_{p_{0},\Omega_{\lambda}}^{p_{0}} = \lambda^{\frac{-2p_{0}}{p-2}+N} \|\vec{U}\|_{p_{0}}^{p_{0}}$$

since  $\frac{-2p_0}{p-2} + N = 0.$ 

(ii) The conclusion follows from straightforward calculation.

Finally, we introduce the following result which is needed in the proof of our main result:

Lemma 4.2.5 (Convergence in Hölder space) Assume  $(w_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in  $C_{loc}^{0,\beta';0,\beta'/2}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1,0]))$  for some  $\beta' \in \mathbb{R}^n$ (0,1). Then, we have

$$w_n \to w \text{ in } C^{0,\alpha';0,\alpha'/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1,0]) \text{ as } n \to \infty$$
 (4.22)

up to a subsequence for any  $\alpha' \in [0, \beta')$ .

See the appendix for the proof of this lemma.

#### Proof of the main result 4.3

#### A compactness of the orbit in $(L^{p_0}(\Omega))^2$ 4.3.1

In this subsection, we show the compactness of the solution orbit in  $(L^{p_0}(\Omega))^2$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1 (Boundedness in** *H*) Every time-global solution  $\vec{U}$  to Problem (P) satisfies

$$\sup_{t \in [0,\infty)} \|\vec{U}(t)\|_H^2 < \infty.$$
(4.23)

**Proof of Lemma 4.3.1.** In view of (4.5), we see that

$$\|\nabla \vec{U}\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx \ge 0$$

which means it is enough to show that

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \left( \|\nabla \vec{U}(t)\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}(t) A \vec{U}(t)^{\mathsf{T}} dx \right) \le \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}}.$$
 (4.24)

We argue by contradiction. Suppose (4.24) does not hold, then there exist  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $(t'_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  with  $t'_n\to\infty$  as  $n\to\infty$  which satisfy

$$\|\nabla \vec{U}(t'_n)\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}(t'_n) A \vec{U}(t'_n)^{\mathsf{T}} dx > \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}} + \varepsilon + o(1)$$
(4.25)

as  $n \to \infty$ . On the other hand, notice that by (4.8),  $I[\vec{U}(t)] \to L$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Then, we apply mean value theorem to find  $t''_n \in (n, n+1)$  for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  to obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}I[\vec{U}(t_n'')] = I[\vec{U}(n+1)] - I[\vec{U}(n)] = o(1) \quad (n \to \infty),$$

which together with (I2) implies

$$-\|\partial_t \vec{U}(t_n'')\|_2^2 = \frac{d}{dt} I[\vec{U}(t_n'')] \to 0 \quad (n \to \infty).$$

As a consequence, by Lemma 4.2.2, we deduce that  $(t''_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  satisfies (PS). Thus (4.9) for  $(t''_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  follows from Lemma 4.2.3. Without loss of generality, we may assume that  $t''_n < t'_n$  (up to a subsequence). By the intermediate value theorem for the mapping  $t \mapsto \|\vec{U}(t)\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}(t) A \vec{U}(t)^{\mathsf{T}} dx$ , (4.25) and the second relation in (4.9) for  $(t''_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  yield the existence of  $t_n \in (t''_n, t'_n)$  such that  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  and

$$\|\nabla \vec{U}(t_n)\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}(t_n) A \vec{U}(t_n)^{\mathsf{T}} dx = \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + o(1)$$
(4.26)

as  $n \to \infty$ . Notice (4.26) implies  $(\vec{U}(t_n))_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in H. Therefore, we can find  $\vec{U}_1 \in H$  such that

$$\begin{cases} \vec{U}(t_n) \to \vec{U}_1 \text{ weakly in } H, \\ \vec{U}(t_n) \to \vec{U}_1 \text{ strongly in } (L^2(\Omega))^2 \text{ and } (L^p(\Omega))^2, \end{cases}$$
(4.27)

as  $n \to \infty$  up to a subsequence. Let  $\vec{U}_n(s) = \vec{U}(t_n + s)$  for  $s \in [-1, 1]$ . By using (I2) and (4.8), we see that

$$\int_{-1}^{1} \|\partial_s \vec{U}n(s)\|_2^2 ds = I[\vec{U}_n(-1)] - I[\vec{U}_n(1)] = o(1) \quad (n \to \infty).$$
(4.28)

This means  $\|\partial_s \vec{U}_n(s_0)\|_2^2 \to 0$  for some  $s_0 \in [-1, 1]$  as  $n \to \infty$ , which together with Lemma 4.2.2 yields  $(t_n + s_0)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  satisfies (PS). Hence Proposition 4.2.2 guarantees the existence of  $\vec{V}_1 \in H$  satisfying

$$\vec{U}_n(s_0) \to \vec{V}_1 \text{ strongly in } H \quad (n \to \infty)$$

$$(4.29)$$

up to a subsequence. Here, we see that

$$\|\vec{U}_1 - \vec{V}_1\|_2 \le \|\vec{U}_1 - \vec{U}_n(0)\|_2 + \|\vec{U}_n(0) - \vec{U}_n(s_0)\|_2 + \|\vec{U}_n(s_0) - \vec{V}_1\|_2.$$
(4.30)

The relation above together with (4.27), (4.28), and (4.29) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\vec{U}_1 - \vec{V}_1\|_2 &\leq o(1) + \|\vec{U}_n(0) - \vec{U}_n(s_0)\|_2 = o(1) + \left\| \int_0^{s_0} \partial_s \vec{U}_n(s) ds \right\|_2 \\ &\leq o(1) + \sqrt{s_0} \left( \int_{-1}^1 \|\partial_s \vec{U}_n(s)\|_2^2 ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \to 0 \end{aligned}$$
as  $n \to \infty$ . Hence there holds

$$\vec{U}_1 = \vec{V}_1 \text{ in } (L^2(\Omega))^2.$$
 (4.31)

Furthermore, by using the argument similar to the derivation of (4.18), we deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_n) dx \to \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_1) dx \tag{4.32}$$

as  $n \to \infty$  since  $\vec{U} \mapsto \nabla F(\vec{U})$  is continuous in  $(L^{\frac{p}{p-1}}(\Omega))^2$ , and (4.27) holds. Moreover, by using (4.31), we see that

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_1) dx = \int_{\Omega} \vec{V}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{V}_1) dx.$$
(4.33)

Then, we recall Lemma 4.2.3 to conclude

$$J[\vec{U}_n(s_0)] = o(1) \quad (n \to \infty),$$

whence it follows (by similar derivation of (4.16))

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{V}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{V}_1) dx = \|\nabla \vec{V}_1\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{V}_1 A \vec{V}_1^{\mathsf{T}} dx$$
(4.34)

By applying Lemma 4.2.2 to  $(t_n + s_0)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  and then using (4.33) together with (4.34), we conclude that

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_1) dx \le \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}}.$$
(4.35)

Next, by using (4.26), we see that

$$L = \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla \vec{U}_n\|_2^2 - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_n |A\vec{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} dx \right) - \int_{\Omega} F(\vec{U}_n) dx + o(1)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \right) - \int_{\Omega} F(\vec{U}_n) dx + o(1) \quad (n \to \infty).$$

Then, we substitute (AR2) into the right hand side of the equation above and then use (4.32) to obtain the following inequality:

$$\int_{\Omega} \vec{U}_1 \cdot \nabla F(\vec{U}_1) dx \ge \frac{L}{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{\mu}} + \frac{\mu\varepsilon}{4}.$$
(4.36)

Clearly, (4.35) and (4.36) lead to a contradiction since  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Therefore, (4.24) must be true which means our proof is complete.

Now, by (4.1), we see that  $L^{p_0}$  is well-defined and  $p_0$  is subcritical in the sense of the Sobolev embedding. Then the compactness of the Sobolev embedding  $H \hookrightarrow (L^{p_0}(\Omega))^2$  together with Lemma 4.3.1 assures the following:

**Proposition 4.3.1 (Compactness of orbit in**  $(L^{p_0}(\Omega))^2$ ) For any time sequence  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}} \subset [0,\infty)$  with  $t_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ , there exists a subsequence (still denoted by the same notation) and  $\vec{U}_* \in H$  such that

$$\vec{U}(t_n) \to \vec{U}_*$$
 in  $(L^{p_0}(\Omega))^2$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

#### 4.3.2 Proof of Theorem 4.1.1

We prove our main result by using contradiction following the argument in [47, pp.1030, Proof of Proposition 4.2] for the case of a single equation with polynomial nonlinearity.

Assume the conclusion of Theorem 4.1.1 does not hold. Then we have a time sequence  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $t_n \to \infty$  and  $\|\vec{U}(t_n)\|_{\infty} \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$ . By taking a further subsequence if needed, we obtain the existence of  $(t_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  satisfying

$$\sup_{t \in [0,t_n]} \|\vec{U}(t)\|_{\infty} = \|\vec{U}(t_n)\|_{\infty} \text{ for any } n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4.37)

together with the existence of  $(x_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  and  $x_0\in\overline{\Omega}$  satisfying

$$\begin{cases} x_n \to x_0 \text{ as } n \to \infty, \\ \frac{1}{2} \|\vec{U}(t_n)\|_{\infty} \le |\vec{U}(x_n, t_n)|_{\infty} \text{ for any } n \in \mathbb{N}. \end{cases}$$

$$(4.38)$$

by recalling the notation given in (4.6).

Let us take  $\lambda$ ,  $x_*$  and  $t_*$  in (4.20) by  $\lambda_n$ ,  $x_n$  and  $t_n$  respectively, where

$$\lambda_n^{\frac{2}{p-2}} := \|\vec{U}(t_n)\|_{\infty} \to \infty \tag{4.39}$$

as  $n \to \infty$  by the assumption. In view of (P1), our original problem (P) is rewritten in the following form:

$$\partial_s \tilde{U}_n = \Delta \tilde{U}_n + \lambda_n^{-2} A \tilde{U}_n^{\mathsf{T}} + \lambda_n^{\frac{-2}{p-2}} \nabla F(\lambda_n^{\frac{2}{p-2}} \tilde{U}_n),$$
(Pn)

with a homogeneous boundary condition on  $\partial(\lambda_n(\Omega - x_n))$ , where a new variable (y, s) is in  $\lambda_n(\Omega - x_n) \times (-\lambda_n^2 t_n, \infty)$ .

Notice that by using (4.37) and (4.38), we have

$$\frac{1}{2} \le |\tilde{U}_n(0_y, 0_s)|_{\infty} \text{ for any } n \in \mathbb{N}$$
(4.40)

and

$$\|\tilde{U}_n\|_{L^{\infty}(-2,0;L^{\infty})} \le 1 \text{ for any } n \in \mathbb{N} \text{ sufficiently large.}$$
(4.41)

From now on, we will divide our argument into two cases:

Case 1.  $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n \operatorname{dist}(x_n, \partial \Omega) = \infty.$ Case 2.  $\limsup_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n \operatorname{dist}(x_n, \partial \Omega) < \infty.$ 

We denote  $\gamma = \limsup_{n \to \infty} \lambda_n \operatorname{dist}(x_n, \partial \Omega)$  for the sake of simplicity.

**Case 1.** We assume  $\gamma = \infty$ . It is known that

$$\lambda_n(\Omega - x_n) \to \mathbb{R}^N \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

See e.g. [78, pp. 190 Case (i) and pp. 343 Case 1]) and [37, pp. 417 Case 1] for references.

Step 1. We first show that  $\tilde{U}_n$  has a nontrivial limit profile  $\tilde{U}$ . To this end, by applying  $L^p$ -estimate for parabolic operators (see e.g. [57, pp. 172, Theorem 7.13]) together with (4.41), we have the boundedness of  $(\tilde{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $\left(W_{q,loc}^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^N \times (-1,0))\right)^2$  for sufficiently large q > 1. Thus,  $(\tilde{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is also a bounded sequence in  $\left(C_{loc}^{0,\alpha';0,\alpha'/2}(\mathbb{R}^N \times (-1,0))\right)^2$  by recalling the Sobolev embedding  $W_{q,loc}^{2,1} \hookrightarrow C_{loc}^{0,\alpha';0,\alpha'/2}$  (see e.g. [52, pp. 80, Lemma 3.3]) where  $\alpha' \in (0, 1)$ . By taking the components of  $(\tilde{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  as  $(w_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in Lemma 4.2.5, we see that (by taking a subsequence if necessary)

$$\tilde{U}_n \to \tilde{U} \text{ in } \left( C^{0,\alpha';0,\alpha'/2}_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1,0]) \right)^2 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
(4.42)

Next, we will show that the following lemma holds:

**Lemma 4.3.2** Let  $(\tilde{U}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a solution to (Pn). Then, we have

$$\|\partial_s \tilde{U}_n\|_{L^2(-1,0;L^2)}^2 \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$
 (4.43)

**Proof of Lemma 4.3.2.** First, we apply Lemma 4.2.4 (ii) and then use (I2) to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_s \tilde{U}_n\|_{L^2(-1,0;L^2)}^2 &= \lambda_n^{-(\frac{4}{p-2}+2-N)} \|\partial_t \vec{U}\|_{L^2((t_n-\frac{1}{\lambda_n^2},t_n);L^2)}^2 \\ &\leq \lambda_n^{-(\frac{4}{p-2}+2-N)} I \bigg[ \vec{U} \bigg( t_n - \frac{1}{\lambda_n^2} \bigg) \bigg]. \end{aligned}$$

Following this, we recall that I is non-increasing and  $p < 2^*$  so that  $-(\frac{4}{p-2}+2-N) < 0$ . Therefore, we can deduce that

$$\|\partial_s \tilde{U}_n\|_{L^2(-1,0;L^2)}^2 \le \lambda_n^{-(\frac{4}{p-2}+2-N)} I[\vec{U}_0] \to 0 \quad (n \to \infty)$$

since  $\lambda_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  which completes the proof of this lemma.

Lemma 4.3.2 yields the following corollary which claims that  $\tilde{U}$  is *s*-independent: Corollary 4.3.1 Assume that (4.43) holds. Then, we have

$$\int_{-1}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \tilde{U} \circ \partial_{s} \vec{\varphi} dy ds = \vec{0}$$
(4.44)

for any test function  $\vec{\varphi} \in (C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1, 0]))^2$ .

**Proof of Corollary 4.3.1.** Fix  $\vec{\varphi} \in (C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1, 0]))^2$  and let K be the compact support of  $\vec{\varphi}$ . In view of (4.42), we see that

$$\int_{-1}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \tilde{U} \circ \partial_{s} \vec{\varphi} dy ds = \int_{0}^{-1} \int_{K} \tilde{U}_{n} \circ \partial_{s} \vec{\varphi} dy ds + o(1)$$
$$= -\int_{0}^{-1} \int_{K} \partial_{s} \tilde{U}_{n} \circ \vec{\varphi} dy ds + o(1) \quad (n \to \infty).$$
(4.45)

Using (4.45), the equivalence of the Euclidean norm and the taxicab norm, and Cauchy-Schwartz inequality, we see that

$$\left| \int_{-1}^{0} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{N}} \tilde{U} \circ \partial_{s} \vec{\varphi} dy ds \right| \leq C \|\vec{\varphi}\|_{L^{2}(-1,0;L^{2})} \|\partial_{s} \tilde{U}_{n}\|_{L^{2}(-1,0;L^{2})}^{2} + o(1) \to 0$$

for some C > 0 as  $n \to \infty$  in view of (4.43). Thus, the proof is complete.

Next, by using (4.42) together with (4.40) and the continuity of  $\tilde{U}$ , there exists r > 0 small enough so that

$$\|\tilde{U}\|_{L^{p_0}(B_y(0,r))} > 0, (4.46)$$

where  $p_0$  is the exponent of the scale-invariant Lebesgue space introduced in (4.21).

**Step 2.** On the contrary to (4.46), we will show that the limit profile  $\hat{U}$  is trivial by using the compactness of the orbit in the scale-invariant Lebesgue space. By taking r as in (4.46), it is easily seen that

$$B_x(x_0;\varepsilon) \subset \Omega \text{ and } B_x(x_n;\frac{r}{\lambda_n}) \subset B_x(x_0;\varepsilon)$$
 (4.47)

for  $\varepsilon$  small enough and sufficiently large *n*. Thus, by using Lemma 4.2.5 (uniform convergence) and Lemma 4.2.4 (i) (scale-invariance), we see that

$$\|\tilde{U}\|_{L^{p_0}(B_y(0;r))} = \|\tilde{U}_n(0_s)\|_{L^{p_0}(B_y(0;r))} + o(1) = \|\vec{U}_n\|_{L^{p_0}(B_x(x_n;\frac{r}{\lambda_n}))} + o(1)$$

as  $n \to \infty$ . Moreover, (4.47) and Proposition 4.3.1 yield

$$\|\vec{U}_n\|_{L^{p_0}(B_x(x_n;\frac{r}{\lambda_n}))} \le \|\vec{U}_n\|_{L^{p_0}(B_x(x_0;\varepsilon))} = \|\vec{U}_*\|_{L^{p_0}(B_x(x_0;\varepsilon))} + o(1) \quad (n \to \infty).$$

By combining these two relations, we have

$$\|\tilde{U}\|_{L^{p_0}(B_y(0;r))} \le \|\vec{U}_*\|_{L^{p_0}(B_x(x_0;\varepsilon))}$$

and, by letting  $\varepsilon \downarrow 0$ , we see that

$$\|\ddot{U}\|_{L^{p_0}(B_y(0;r))} = 0. (4.48)$$

Clearly (4.48) contradicts (4.46) and thus we have the desired conclusion.

**Case 2.** We assume  $\gamma < \infty$ . Note that, since  $\lambda_n \to \infty$  as  $n \to \infty$  (see (4.39)), we observe

$$\lambda_n(\Omega - x_n) \to \mathbb{R}^N_+$$
 as  $n \to \infty$  and  $x_0 \in \partial \Omega$ 

up to spatial rotation and translation (see e.g. [78, Equation (22.6) pp. 190 and pp.  $344 \ Case \ 2$ ] and [37, pp. 418, Case 2]), where

$$\mathbb{R}^N_+ := \{ y \in \mathbb{R}^N \, | \, y^N > -\gamma \}.$$

Now we repeat the procedure as in **Case 1** by replacing the interior estimate with the boundary estimate. Following this, we see that  $(\tilde{U}_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in  $\left(W_{q,q;loc}^{2,1}(\mathbb{R}^N_+ \times (-1,0))\right)^2$  for any q > 1 sufficiently large, hence the boundedness in  $\left(C_{loc}^{0,\alpha';0,\alpha'/2}(\mathbb{R}^N_+ \times [-1,0])\right)^2$ .

Recall that (Pn) has a homogeneous boundary condition on  $\partial(\lambda_n(\Omega - x_n))$  and  $|\tilde{U}(0_y)| \geq \frac{1}{2}$ . Thus,  $\gamma \neq 0$ . Then, by replacing  $B_y(0,r)$  with  $B_y(0,r) \cap \mathbb{R}^N_+$ , we have the same contradiction as in **Case 1**. This completes the proof.

# Chapter 5 Conclusions and future problems

### 5.1 Conclusions

In chapter 2, we introduce the *p*-mean value in the sense of [46] and define the notion of (variationally) *p*-harmonious functions, i.e., the functions which can be represented by the *p*-mean value. The existence of *p*-harmonious functions is confirmed in Theorem 2.2.2. The idea of the proof is by applying Perron's Method which is modified to suit our problem. Next, we also establish the relation between *p*-harmonious functions and *p*-harmonic functions for game-theoretic *p*-Laplace equation with the same Dirichlet boundary condition. In this case, we confirm that a *p*-harmonious function converges to a *p*-harmonic function uniformly in a sufficiently smooth bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  in view of Theorem 2.3.2. Particularly, we use the convergence scheme which is developed by Barles and Souganidis in [8] to prove Theorem 2.3.2. Our results here generalizes the notion of asymptotic mean value property and harmonic functions. In particular, when p = 2, we obtain the usual asymptotic mean value property for harmonic functions.

In chapter 3, we study the blow-up rate of semilinear heat equation with subcritical nonlinear term under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . We obtain the blow-up rate of the aforementioned problem in the form of the lower estimate of blow-up rate and the upper estimate of blow-up rate as written in Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.1.2 respectively. In fact, our main results cover some functions which are not included by Giga and Kohn in [36] such as (3.1) and (3.2). We mainly use similar variable transformation and parabolic argument to prove our main results in this chapter. Finally, we also extend Theorem 3.1.1 and Theorem 3.1.2 to Theorem 3.4.1 and Theorem 3.4.2 respectively for a system of semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinear term under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition. In chapter 4, we study the time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat quations with subcritical nonlinearity under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition in a bounded smooth domain. Particularly, we establish the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for the aforementioned time-global solutions as stated by Theorem 4.1.1. Here, we extend the method developed by Ishiwata in [47] which is based on the compactness of the orbit in scale-invariant Lebesgue space and the blow-up argument from a single equation case to a system of equations. This method particularly works for critical case in the sense of Sobolev embedding for single equation. The critical case for a system of equations will be discussed in our forthcoming paper [18].

### 5.2 Future problems

In this section, we will discuss several possible directions for future research based on the results we have presented especially in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

### 5.2.1 Blow-up rate of semilinear heat equations and Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz condition

First, let us introduce the following semilinear heat equations given by Giga, Matsui, and Sasayama in [34]. Let  $N \geq 3$ ,  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ , and  $u_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for simplicity and consider

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u + u |u|^{p-2} & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

In [36], Giga and Kohn needs to assume nonnegativity of  $u_0$  to assure to obtain the blow-up rate for  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ . Otherwise, their results are only valid for  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$ . Hence, the result of Giga, Matsui, and Sasayama in [34] improves the results in [36] by including the case  $p \in [\frac{6N+4}{3N-4}, 2^*)$  without assuming the nonnegativity of the solution. Observe that we also need to assume  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  in Theorem 3.1.2.

On the other hand, we also need the assumption of  $\mu = p$  in Theorem (3.1.2) to obtain the upper estimate of the blow-up rate for our problem in Chapter 3. However, such an assumption is not necessary in the case of ordinary differential equations as obtained in [19]. By removing the assumption  $\mu = p$ , we can obtain the blow-up rate for a larger class of functions of the nonlinear term in our problem. For example, we can obtain the blow-up rate for

$$f(u) = u|u|^2 \log(1+|u|^2)$$
(5.1)

by taking N = 3, p = 4, and  $\mu = 3$  if we can omit the assumption  $\mu = p$  in Theorem 3.1.2.

By the exposition above, we consider the following things for future research:

- 1. Improve the assumption on p from  $p \in (2, \frac{6N+4}{3N-4})$  to  $p \in (2, 2^*)$  for Theorem 3.1.2.
- 2. Remove the assumption  $\mu = p$  in Theorem 3.1.2.

### 5.2.2 The existence of $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds and the lack of compactness

In Chapter 1, we cite the result of Ishiwata in [47] about the sufficient and necessary condition for the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds of the solutions to a semilinear heat equation. The method being used in the aforementioned paper also works for the critical case in the sense of Sobolev embedding. It is also well-known that the embedding  $H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2*}(\Omega)$  is not compact. Thus, the lack of compactness coming from the nonlinear term raises a problem which might be essential in nature instead of a technical one. The extension of our result in Theorem 4.1.1 for the critical case will be discussed further in our forthcoming paper [18].

On the other hand, the lack of compactness can also arise from an unbounded domain. For instance, let  $N \geq 3$  and consider the following system of semilinear heat equations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \vec{U} = \Delta \vec{U} + A \vec{U} + \nabla F(\vec{U}) & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m), \\ \vec{U}(\cdot, 0) = \vec{U}_0 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^N. \end{cases}$$

where  $\nabla F$  is given as in the problem (P) in Chapter 4, A is a real symmetric  $2 \times 2$ matrix, and  $\vec{U}_0 \in H^1(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N)$  for simplicity. In this case, we do not have a compact Sobolev embedding even when  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ . Furthermore, there is no known result for a single equation case related to the aforementioned problem to the extent of our knowledge at the time of writing this thesis.

Based on the explanation above, we consider the following things for possible future research:

- 1. Verify the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  for subcritical  $p \in (2, 2^*)$ .
- 2. Verify the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations in  $\mathbb{R}^N$  for  $p = 2^*$ , i.e., p is a critical Sobolev exponent in the sense of Sobolev embedding.

### 5.2.3 Behavior of solutions to semilinear heat equations and solutions to quasilinear heat equations

Let  $N \geq 3$  and consider the following semilinear heat equations:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta u - u + f(u) & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \times (0, T_m) \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^N \end{cases}$$

where f is given as in the Problem (P) in Chapter 3 and  $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^N) \cap H^1(\mathbb{R}^N)$ for simplicity. When the spatial domain is bounded and  $f(u) = u + u|u|^{p-2}$  with p > 1, Ikehata and Suzuki have classified the solutions into stable and unstable sets. Particularly, in this case, the solution decays as  $t \to \infty$  if the initial data is sufficiently small and the solution blows up in finite time in the sense of  $H_0^1$ -norm if the solution is sufficiently large. Moreover, when N = 1, the solution is also bounded in  $L^{\infty}$ -norm in view of the compact embedding  $H^1(\mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . As a result, if we take the spatial domain of such a problem from  $\mathbb{R}$  to  $\mathbb{R}_+$ , the solution converges to a travelling pseudo-wave of a ground state solution for some nonnegative initial data as given by Fašangová and Feireisl in [26]. This exposition ties up the connection between elliptic partial differential equations (Laplace or Poisson equation) and parabolic partial differential equations (semilinear heat equation).

In order to obtain the connection above between elliptic partial differential equations and parabolic partial differential equations for N > 1, we need to know the behavior of solutions of semilinear heat equations in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ . As the first step, establishing the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for time-global solution is essential to extend the results of Fašangová and Feireisl in [26] from one dimensional spatial domain to higher dimensional spatial domain.

Another consideration for future research is also related to game-theoretic p-Laplace operator as heavily discussed in Chapter 2. Particularly, Ishiwata, Magnanini, and Wadade have also introduced the p-mean value for parabolic equations involving game-theoretic p-Laplace operator in [46]. Next, let us consider the following quasilinear parabolic equation:

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u = \Delta_p u - u |u|^{p-2} & \text{in } \Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u = 0 & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times (0, T_m), \\ u(\cdot, 0) = u_0 & \text{in } \Omega, \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded smooth domain and  $u_0 \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap H_0^1(\Omega)$  for simplicity. The existence of solution to this problem has been obtained by Otani in [72, Theorem 6.1, pp. 600] for any initial data in  $L^2(\Omega)$ . However, at the time of writing this thesis,

we still do not fully understand the behavior of solutions to (5.2). For instance, we do not know whether time-global solution exists or not and if it exists, we also do not know whether such a solution is bounded under a suitable norm or not.

In view of the exposition so far in this subsection, we have the following things to consider for possible future research:

- 1. Verify the existence of  $L^{\infty}$ -global bounds for semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinearity under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz in  $\mathbb{R}^{N}$ .
- 2. Analyze the stable and unstable sets of the solutions to the semilinear heat equations with subcritical nonlinearity under Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz in  $\mathbb{R}^N$ .
- 3. Verify whether the results given by Fašangová and Feireisl in [26] can be extended to a higher dimension  $(N \ge 3)$ .
- 4. Analyze the behavior of solutions to quasilinear parabolic equation in the form of(5.2) and its connection with the corresponding quasilinear elliptic equation in the form of *p*-Laplace equation.

## References

- Alves, C.O., de Morais Filho, D.C., Souto, M.A.S. On systems of elliptic equations involving subcritical or critical Sobolev exponents, Nonlinear Anal. 42 (2000), no. 5, Ser. A: Theory Methods, 771–787.
- [2] Ambrosetti, A., Rabinowitz, P.H. Dual variational methods in critical point theory, J. Funct. Anal. 14 (1973), 349-381.
- [3] Aronson, D.G., Weinberger, H.F. Nonlinear diffusion in population genetics, combustion, and nerve propagation. In Partial differential equations and related topics. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 446, pp. 5–49 (New York: Springer, 1975).
- [4] Arroyo, A., Heino, J., Parviainen. Tug-of-war games with varying probabilities and normalized p(x)-Laplacian, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 16, (2017), 915–944.
- [5] Barles, G., Burdeau, J. The Dirichlet problem for semilinear secondorder degenerate elliptic equations and applications to stochastic exit time control problems, Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 20 (1995), 129– 178.
- [6] Barles, G., Perthame, B. Discontinuous solutions of deterministic optimal stopping time problems, RAIRO Modél. Math. Anal. Numér. 21 (1987), 557–579.
- Barles, G., Perthame, B. Exit time problems in optimal control and vanishing viscosity method, SIAM J. Control Optim. 26 (1988), 1133– 1148.
- [8] Barles, G., Souganidis, P.E. Convergence of approximation schemes for fully nonlinear second order equations, Asymptot. Anal. 4 (1991), 271– 283.

- [9] Bear, J. Dynamics of Fluids in Porous Media. Ammer. Elsevier, New York, 1972.
- [10] Benedikt, J., Girg, P., Kotrla, L., Takáč, P. Origin of the p-Laplacian and A. Missbach, Electronic Journal of Differential Equations Vol. 2018 (2018), No. 16, pp. 1–17.
- Brezis, H. Functional Analysis, Sobolev Spaces, and Partial Differential Equations. Universititext. Springer, New York, 2011.
- [12] Bozzini, B., Monti, A., Sgura, I. Model-reduction techniques for PDE models with Turing type electrochemical phase formation dynamics, Applications in Engineering Science Vol. 8 (2021), 100074.
- [13] Cazenave, T., Brezis, H. A nonlinear heat equation with singular initial data, Journal D'Analyse Mathématique, Vol. 68 (1996), 277–304.
- [14] Cazenave, T., Dickstein, F., Weissler, F. Global existence and blowup for sign-changing solutions of the nonlinear heat equation, J. Differential Equations 246 (2009), 2669–2680.
- [15] Cazenave, T., Haraux, A. An Introduction to Semilinear Evolution Equations. Translated from the 1990 French original by Yvan Martel and revised by the authors. Oxford Lecture Series in Mathematics and its Applications, 13. The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, New York, 1998.
- [16] Cazenave, T., Lions, P.L. Solutions globales d'equations de la chaleur semilineaires, Comm. Partial Differential Equations 9 (1984), 935–978.
- [17] Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M., Magnanini, R., Wadade, H. Variational p-harmonious functions: existence and convergence to pharmonic functions, Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. (2021), Vol. 28, 51. (DOI:10.1007/s00030-021-00714-7)
- [18] Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M. On bounds for global solutions of semilinear parabolic equations system with critical nonlinearity, preprint.
- [19] Cho, Y. (2020). On the blow-up estimates for solutions of semilinear ODE system [Master thesis, Graduate School of Engineering Science, Osaka University].

- [20] Codenotti, L., Lewicka, M., Manfredi, J.J. Discrete approximations to the double-obstacle problem and optimal stopping tug-of-war games, Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 369 (2017), 7387–7403.
- [21] Crandall, M.G., Ishii, H., Lions, P.L. Users guide to viscosity psolutions of second order partial differential equations, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 27 (1992), 1–67.
- [22] del Teso, F., Manfredi, J. J., Parviainen, M. Convergence of dynamic programming principles for the p-Laplacian, Adv. Calc. Var. (2020). (arXiv:1808.10154v3 [math.AP] 17 Mar 2020)
- [23] Díaz, J.I., de Thélin, F. On a nonlinear parabolic problem arising in some models related to turbulent flows, SIAM J. Math. Anal., 25(4) (1994), 1085–1111.
- [24] Evans, L.C. Partial Differential Equations. Providence, R.I: American Mathematical Society, 1998.
- [25] Falcone, M., Finzi, V.S., Giorgi, T., Smits, R.G. A semi-Lagrangian scheme for the game p-Laplacian via p-averaging, Appl. Numer. Math. 73 (2013), 63–80.
- [26] Fašangová, E., Feireisl, E. The long-time behaviour of solutions to parabolic problems on unbounded intervals: the influence of boundary conditions, Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh, 129A (1999), 319–329.
- [27] Feynman, R., Leighton, R., Sands, M. The Feynman Lectures in Physics, Vol. II, Addison-Wesley, 1966.
- [28] Fila, M., Souplet, P. The blow-up rate for semilinear parabolic problems on general domains, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl., 8 (2001), 473–480.
- [29] Friedman, A., McLeod, B. Blow-up of positive solutions of semilinear heat equations, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 34 (1985), 425–447.
- [30] Fujita, H. On the blowing up of solutions of the Cauchy problem for  $u_t = \Delta u + u^{1+\alpha}$ , J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. I 13 (1966), 109–124.

- [31] Galaktinov, V.A., Vázquez, J.L. The problem of blow-up in nonlinear parabolic equations, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems Vol. 8 (2022), no. 2, 399–433.
- [32] Galaktinov, V.A., King, J.R. Continuation of blowup solutions of nonlinear heat equations in several space dimensions, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 50 (1997), 1–67.
- [33] Garofalo, N., Lin, F.H. Unique continuation for elliptic operators: A geometric variational approach, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 40 (1987), no. 3, 347–366.
- [34] Giga, Y., Matsui, S., Sasayama, S. Blow Up Rate for Semilinear Heat Equations with Subcritical Nonlinearity, Indiana University Mathematics Journal Vol. 53 (2004), No.2, 483–514.
- [35] Giga, Y., Kohn, R. Nondegeneracy of blowup for semilinear heat equations, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 42 (1989), no. 6, 845–884.
- [36] Giga, Y., Kohn, R. Characterizing blowup using similarity variables, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 36 (1987), no. 1, 1–40.
- [37] Giga, Y. A bound for global solutions of semilinear heat equations, Comm. Math. Phys., 103 (1986), 415–421.
- [38] Gilbarg, D., Trudinger, N.S. Elliptic partial differential equations of second order. Berlin, Springer-Verlag, 1983.
- [39] Giorgi, T., Smits, R.G. Mean value property for p-harmonic functions, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. 140 (2012), 2453–2463.
- [40] Hartenstine, D., Rudd, M. Perrons method for p-harmonious functions, Electron. J. Differ. Equ. 2016 (2016), 1–12.
- [41] Hartenstine, D., Rudd, M.: Statistical functional equations and pharmonious functions, Adv. Nonlinear Stud. 13 (2013), 191–207.
- [42] Henry, D. Geometric Theory of Semilinear Parabolic Equations, Lecture Notes in Math. 840, Springer-Verlag, Berlin and New York, 1981.
- [43] Ikehata, R., Okazawa, N. A class of second order quasilinear evolution equations, J. Diff. Eq. 114 (1994), 106–131.

- [44] Ikehata, R., Suzuki, T. Stable and unstable sets for evolution equations of parabolic and hyperbolic type, Hiroshima Math. J. 26 (1996), no. 3, 475–491.
- [45] Ishii, H. A boundary value problem of the Dirichlet type for Hamilton-Jacobi equations, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. 4(16) (1989), 105–135.
- [46] Ishiwata, M., Magnanini, R., Wadade, H. A natural approach to the asymptotic mean value property for the p-Laplacian. Calc. Var. Partial Differ. Equ. 56 (2017), 56–97.
- [47] Ishiwata, M. On bounds for global solutions of semilinear parabolic equations with critical and subcritical Sobolev exponent, Differential and Integral Equations 20 (2007), no. 9, 1021–1034.
- [48] Ishiwata, M. On a potential-well type result and global bounds of solutions for semilinear parabolic equation involving critical Sobolev exponents. Notes. Private communication.
- [49] Juutinen, P., Lindqvist, P., Manfredi, J.J. On the equivalence of viscosity p-solutions and weak solutions for a quasi-linear equation, SIAM J. Math. Anal. 33 (2001), 699–717.
- [50] Kawohl, B., Manfredi, J.J., Parviainen, M. Solutions of nonlinear PDEs in the sense of averages, J. Math. Pures Appl. 97 (2012), 173– 188.
- [51] Koike, S. A Beginners Guide to the Theory of Viscosity p-Solutions, MSJ Memoirs, vol. 13. Mathematical Society of Japan, Tokyo (2004).
- [52] Ladyzenskaja, O.A., Solonnikov, V.A., Ural'ceva, N.N. Linear and Quasilinear Equations of Parabolic Type. Amer. Math Soc., Providence, 1968.
- [53] Le Gruyer, E. On absolutely minimizing Lipschitz extensions and PDE  $\Delta_{\infty}(u) = 0$ , NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. 14 (2007), 29–55.
- [54] Levine, H.A. Some nonexistence and instability theorems for solutions of formally parabolic equations of the form  $Pu_t = -Au + \mathcal{F}(u)$ , Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 51 (1973), 371–386.

- [55] Lewicka, M., Manfredi, J.J. The obstacle problem for the p-Laplacian via optimal stopping of tug-of-war games, Probab. Theory Rel. 167 (2017), 349–378.
- [56] Lewicka, M., Manfredi, J.J., Ricciotti, D. Random walks and random tug of war in the Heisenberg group, Math. Ann. 377 (2020), 797–846.
- [57] Lieberman, G.M. Second Order Parabolic Differential Equations. World Scientific Publishing, River Edge, 1996.
- [58] Lienhard IV, J., Lienhard V, J. A Heat Transfer Textbook: Fifth Edition. Cambridge, Massachusetts: Phlogiston Press, 2020.
- [59] Lions, P.L. On positive solutions of semilinear elliptic equations in unbounded domains. Nonlinear diffusion equations and their equilibrium states, II (Berkeley, CA, 1986), 85122, Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., 13, Springer, New York, 1988.
- [60] Luiro, H., Parviainen, M. Regularity for nonlinear stochastic games, Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire 35 (2018), 1435–1456.
- [61] Luiro, H., Parviainen, M., Saksman, E. On the existence and uniqueness of p-harmonious functions, Differ. Int. Equ. 27 (2014), 201–216.
- [62] Manfredi, J.J., Parviainen, M., Rossi, J.D. An asymptotic mean value characterization for p-harmonic functions, Proc. Amer. Math. Sco. 138 (2010), 881–889.
- [63] Manfredi, J.J., Parviainen, M., Rossi, J.D. On the definition and properties of p-harmonious functions, Ann. Sc. Norm. Super. Pisa Cl. Sci. 5(11) (2012), 215–241.
- [64] Manfredi, J.J., Stroffolini, B. Convergence of the natural p-means for the p-Laplacian, ESAIM Control Optim. Calc. Var. 27 (2021), 1–17.
- [65] Mizoguchi, N. On the behavior of solutions for a semilinear parabolic equation with supercritical nonlinearity, Math. Z. 239 (2002), 215–229.
- [66] Ni, W.M., Sacks, P.E., Tavantzis, J. On the asymptotic behavior of solutions of certain quasilinear parabolic equations, J. Differential Equations 54 (1984), 97–120.

- [67] Nirenberg, L. On elliptic partial differential equations. Ann. Scuola Normale Pisa, Ser. III, 13, 1959, pp. 115-162.
- [68] Noah, S.G. The median of a continuous function, Real Anal. Exchange 33 (2008), 269–274.
- [69] Otani, M. Existence and asymptotic stability of nonlinear equations with a difference term of subdifferentials. Colloquia Mat. Soc. Janos Bolyai, 30, Qualitative theory of differential equations, North-Holland, 1980.
- [70] Otani, M. On the asymptotic behavior of solutions of evolution equations with a difference term of subdifferentials (in Japanese). RIMS Kokyuroku 386, 1980, pp. 89-108.
- [71] Otani, M. Bounds for global solutions of some semilinear parabolic equations. RIMS Kokyuroku 698, 1989, pp. 36-50.
- [72] Otani, M. On existence of strong solutions for  $du(t)/dt + \partial \psi^1(u(t)) \partial \psi^2(u(t))f(t)$ , J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect IA Math. 25 (1978), 185–204.
- [73] Payne, L.E., Satttinger, D.H. Saddle points and instability of nonlinear hyperbolic equations, Israel J. Math. 22 (1975), 273–303.
- [74] Peres, Y., Sheffield, S. Tug-of-war with noise?: a game-theoretic view of the p-Laplacian, Duke Math. J. 145 (2008), 91–120.
- [75] Peres, Y., Schramm, O., Sheffield, S., Scott, D.B. Tug-of-war and the infinity Laplacian, J. Amer. Math. Soc. 22 (2009), 167–210.
- [76] Persides, S. The Laplace and poisson equations in Schwarzschild's space-time, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications, Volume 43, Issue 3 (1973), 571–578.
- [77] Quittner, P. A priori bounds for global solutions of a semilinear parabolic problem, Acta Math. Univ. Comenianae, Vol. LXVIII, No. 2 (1999), pp. 195–203.
- [78] Quittner, P., Souplet, P. Superlinear Parabolic Problems. Blow-up, Global Existence, and Steady States. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2007.

- [79] Rudd, M., Van Dyke, H. Median values, 1-harmonic functions, and functions of least gradient, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 12 (2013), 711– 719.
- [80] Rudin, W. Principles of Mathematical Analysis, 3rd edn. McGraw-Hill, New York, 1976.
- [81] Rüland, A. Unique continuation for sublinear elliptic equations based on Carleman estimates, J. Differential Equations 265 (2018), 6009–6035.
- [82] Santos, E.M.D., Norenberg, G., Soave, N. On unique continuation principles for some elliptic systems, 2001. arXiv: 1909.07948v2.
- [83] Soave, N., Weth, T. The unique continuation property of sublinear equations, SIAM J. Math. Anal. (2018), Vol. 50, No. 4, pp. 3919–3938.
- [84] Strauss, W.A. Partial Differential Equations: An Introduction. John Wiley & Sons, 2007.
- [85] Struwe, M. Variational Methods. Applications to Nonlinear Partial Differential Equations and Hamiltonian Systems. Springer, Verlag, 1990.
- [86] Wang, L., Zhu, M. Liouville Theorems on the upper half space, Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems (2020), Vol. 40, No. 9, pp. 5373– 5381.
- [87] Weissler, F. Existence and non-existence of global solutions for semilinear heat equation, Israel Journal of Mathematics, Vol. 38, Nos. 1–2, 1981, 29–40.
- [88] Weissler, F. Local existence and nonexistence for semilinear parabolic equations in L<sup>p</sup>, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 29 (1980), 79–102.
- [89] Willem, M. Minimax theorems. Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications, 24. Birkhauser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1996.

# Appendix

#### **Proof of Proposition 4.2.1**

**Lemma .0.1** Assume condition (AR) in Chapter 3 holds. Then, for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exists  $C_{\mu,\delta} > 0$  such that

if 
$$|u| \ge \delta$$
 then  $C_{\mu,\delta}|u|^{\mu} \le F(u)$ 

for any  $u \in \mathbb{R}$ .

Following Lemma .0.1, we have similar property for condition (SAR) in chapter 3.

**Remark .0.1** Assume (SAR) in Chapter 3 holds. Then, for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exists  $C_{\mu,\delta} > 0$  such that

if 
$$|(u,v)| \ge \delta$$
 then  $C_{\mu,\delta}|(u,v)|^{\mu} \le F(u,v)$ 

for any  $(u, v) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ .

For the proof of both Lemma .0.1 and Remark .0.1, see [19].

We recall the following lemma.

**Lemma .0.2 (See e.g. [54])** There exists no nonnegative and increasing function  $Y \in C^2(\bar{t}, \infty)$  with  $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$  such that for some  $\beta > 0$ ,

$$YY'' \ge (\beta + 1)[Y']^2 \text{ on } (\bar{t}, \infty) \text{ and } \lim_{t \to \infty} Y(t) = \infty.$$

Now we are ready to prove Proposition 4.2.1. Assume on the contrary,

there exists 
$$t_0 \in [0, \infty)$$
 such that  $I[U(t_0)] < 0.$  (3)

The condition (AR2) and the definition of I yield

$$J[\vec{U}] = \|\nabla \vec{U}\|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \int_{\Omega} (u_{1}f(\vec{U}) + u_{2}g(\vec{U})) dx$$
  
$$\leq \|\nabla \vec{U}\|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx - \mu \int_{\Omega} F(\vec{U}) dx$$
  
$$= -\left(\frac{\mu}{2} - 1\right) \left(\|\nabla \vec{U}\|_{2}^{2} - \int_{\Omega} \vec{U} A \vec{U}^{\mathsf{T}} dx\right) + \mu I[\vec{U}].$$
(4)

By taking  $(\phi_1, \phi_2) = \vec{U}$  in (4.5), the quadratic form in (4) is nonnegative in view of (AN). However, since  $\mu > 2$ , the first term in the right hand side of (4) is not positive. Thus, we have

$$J[\vec{U}] \le \mu I[\vec{U}],\tag{5}$$

which together with (J2) yields

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|\vec{U}(t)\|_2^2 = -J[\vec{U}(t)] \ge -\mu I[\vec{U}(t)].$$

Combining this relation with the fact that our energy functional I is strictly negative when  $t \ge t_0$  since it is non-increasing, we obtain

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{d}{dt}\|\vec{U}(t)\|_2^2 \ge -\mu I[\vec{U}(t)] \ge -\mu I[\vec{U}(t_0)] > 0 \tag{6}$$

for any  $t \ge t_0$ . Therefore, for  $Y(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{t_0}^t \|\vec{U}(s)\|_2^2 ds$ , we see that

$$Y''(t) \ge -\mu I[\vec{U}(t_0)] > 0 \text{ for any } t \ge t_0,$$
 (7)

which means

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} Y'(t) = \infty \text{ and } \lim_{t \to \infty} Y(t) = \infty.$$
(8)

Next, observe that for any  $t \ge t_0$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| Y'(t) - Y'(t_0) \right| &= \left| \int_{t_0}^t Y''(s) ds \right| = \left| \int_{t_0}^t \int_{\Omega} \vec{U}(s) \cdot \partial_s \vec{U}(s) dx ds \right| \\ &\leq \int_{t_0}^t \|\vec{U}(s)\|_2 \|\partial_s \vec{U}(s)\|_2 ds \\ &\leq \left( \int_{t_0}^t \|\vec{U}(s)\|_2^2 ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{t_0}^t \|\partial_s \vec{U}(s)\|_2 ds \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

which yields

$$Y(t)Y''(t) \ge \frac{\mu}{2} (Y'(t) - Y'(t_0))^2 \quad (t \ge t_0)$$
(9)

in view of (I2) and (6). The relation above together with (8) allows us to choose  $\theta \in \left(\frac{2}{\mu}, 1\right)$  and  $t_{\theta} > t_0$  large enough so that

$$Y(t)Y''(t) \ge \frac{\mu}{2}\theta(Y'(t))^2 \text{ for any } t > t_{\theta}.$$

This relation and (8) assure the assumption in Proposition .0.2 whence Y cannot exist time-globally, which contradicts the time-global existence of  $\vec{U}$ . Hence (3) is false and we have the conclusion.

**Proof of Lemma 4.2.5** First, we fix  $\alpha' \in [0, \beta')$  and a compact set  $K \subset \mathbb{R}^N \times [-1, 0]$ . Let  $C_{\alpha'}(K) := C^{0, \alpha'; 0, \alpha'/2}(K)$  for convenience and define

$$\begin{aligned} \|\varphi\|_{C_{\alpha'}(K)} &:= \|\varphi\|_{C(K)} + \sup_{s \in [-1,0]} \sup_{y_1 \neq y_2} \frac{|\varphi(y_1,s) - \varphi(y_2,s)|}{|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'}} \\ &+ \sup_{y \in \overline{\Omega}} \sup_{s_1 \neq s_2} \frac{|\varphi(y,s_1) - \varphi(y,s_2)|}{|s_1 - s_2|^{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}} \end{aligned}$$

for any  $\varphi \in C_{\alpha'}(K)$ . Observe that  $(w_n)_{\in\mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in  $C_{\alpha'}(K)$  and equicontinuous in K since w is uniformly bounded in  $C_{\beta'}(K)$  and  $\alpha' < \beta'$ . Therefore, we can apply Ascoli-Arzela Theorem to see that

$$w_n \to w \text{ in } C_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^N \times [-1,0]) \quad (n \to \infty)$$
 (10)

up to a subsequence. If  $\alpha = 0$ , then our proof is complete and thus we assume  $\alpha \neq 0$  throughout the remaining part of the proof. It remains to show that

$$\sup_{s \in [-1,0]} \sup_{y_1 \neq y_2} \frac{|w_n(y_1,s) - w(y_1,s) - (w_n(y_2,s) - w(y_2,s))|}{|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'}} \to 0 \quad (n \to \infty)$$
(11)

and

$$\sup_{y\in\overline{\Omega}}\sup_{s_1\neq s_2}\frac{|w_n(y,s_1) - w(y,s_1) - (w_n(y,s_2) - w(y,s_2))|}{|s_1 - s_2|^{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}} \to 0 \quad (n \to \infty).$$
(12)

Here, we set

$$h_n := w_n - w$$

for convenience and show (11) holds. Next, by using (10), we observe that

$$|w(y_1,s) - w(y_2,s)| = |w_n(y_1,s) - w_n(y_2,s)| + o(1) \le C|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'} + o(1)$$

and

$$w(y,s_1) - w(y,s_2)| = |w_n(y,s_1) - w_n(y,s_2)| + o(1) \le C|s_1 - s_2|^{\frac{\alpha'}{2}} + o(1)$$

as  $n \to \infty$  for any  $y_1, y_2 \in K$  and for any  $s_1, s_2 \in [-1, 0]$ . Therefore, we see that  $w \in C_{\beta'}(K) \subset C_{\alpha'}(K)$  since  $\alpha' < \beta'$ . In fact,  $(h_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in  $C_{\alpha'}(K)$  and  $C_{\beta'}(K)$ . By using (10), we see that

$$h_n \to 0$$
 in  $C(K)$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Then, we define

$$A_{1,n}(s) := \sup\left\{\frac{|h_n(y_1, s) - h_n(y_2, s)|}{|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'}} \middle| y_1 \neq y_2 \text{ and } |y_1 - y_2| \le \delta\right\}$$
$$A_{2,n}(s) := \sup\left\{\frac{|h_n(y_1, s) - h_n(y_2, s)|}{|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'}} \middle| y_1 \neq y_2 \text{ and } |y_1 - y_2| > \delta\right\}$$

so that we can deduce

$$A_{1,n}(s) \le \delta^{\beta'-\alpha'} \|h_n\|_{C_{\beta'}(K)} \le C\delta^{\beta'-\alpha'}.$$
(13)

since  $(h_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is uniformly bounded in  $C_{\beta'}(K)$ . Again, by using the uniform boundedness of  $(h_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  in  $C_{\beta'}(K)$  and the definition of  $A_{2,n}(s)$ , we infer

$$A_{2,n}(s) \le 2\delta^{-\alpha'} \|h_n\|_{C(K)} \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

$$\tag{14}$$

Combining (13) and (14), we see that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{s \in [-1,0]} \sup_{y_1 \neq y_2} \frac{|h_n(y_1,s) - h_n(y_2,s)|}{|y_1 - y_2|^{\alpha'}} \le \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{s \in [-1,0]} \left( A_{1,n}(s) + A_{2,n}(s) \right)$$
$$\le C\delta^{\beta' - \alpha'} + \lim_{n \to \infty} \sup_{s \in [-1,0]} A_{2,n}(s)$$
$$\le C\delta^{\beta' - \alpha'} \to 0 \text{ as } \delta \downarrow 0$$

which means that (11) holds. Similarly, we repeat the argument for (11) to show that (12) holds. However, we replace  $A_{1,n}$  and  $A_{2,n}$  with

$$B_{1,n}(y) := \sup\left\{\frac{|h_n(y,s_1) - h_n(y,s_2)|}{|s_1 - s_2|^{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}} \middle| s_1 \neq s_2 \text{ and } |s_1 - s_2| \le \delta \right\}$$
$$B_{2,n}(y) := \sup\left\{\frac{|h_n(y,s_1) - h_n(y,s_2)|}{|s_1 - s_2|^{\frac{\alpha'}{2}}} \middle| s_1 \neq s_2 \text{ and } |s_1 - s_2| > \delta \right\}$$

respectively and proceed as in the proof of (11) to complete our proof.

### Acknowledgement

I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Michinori Ishiwata who provided me valuable advice and guidance during my research and the writing process of this thesis. His guidance not only helps me to grow my mathematical intuition but also helps me to grow as a researcher.

I am also extremely grateful to Professor Rolando Magnanini and Professor Hidemitsu Wadade who provided me an invaluable experience during our research collaboration. The completion of the study in Chapter 2 would not be possible without the research collaboration with the both of them.

Moreover, I would like to express my gratitude to Professor Takayuki Kobayashi and Professor Jun Sekine for sparing their time to examine this thesis during their busy schedule.

Next, I also want to thank the members of Ishiwata Laboratory who have helped me a lot during my research. Particularly, I would like to express my gratitude to Associate Professor Takahiro Okabe for his support and advice who also spared his time to examine this thesis during his busy schedule. I would like to thank Dr. Ikkei Shimizu and Dr. Li Haoyu as well for the advice and discussions during my research. I also would like to thank Cho Youngmin who helped the development of my research with discussion and weekly research seminar since my time as a master student.

Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to the Ministry of Education, Sports, and Technology of Japan and Graduate School of Engineering Science in Osaka University who have supported me financially during my stay in Japan as a graduate school student.

### List of Publications

 Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M., Magnanini, R., Wadade, H. "Variational *p*-harmonious functions: existence and convergence to *p*-harmonic functions". *Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl.*, Vol. 28, 51 (2021). DOI:10.1007/s00030-021-00714-7.

### List of Works in Progress

- 1. Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M. "Type I blow-up rate analysis for Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz nonlinearity in semilinear heat equations", work-in-progress.
- 2. Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M. "On bounds for time-global solutions to a system of semilinear heat equations with subcritical Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz nonlinearity", work-in-progress.
- 3. Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M. "On bounds for global solutions of semilinear parabolic equations system with critical nonlinearity", work-in-progress.
- 4. Ishiwata, M., Chandra, E.W. "Pseudo-traveling wave decomposition of timeglobal solutions for semilinear parabolic equations", submitted to *Journal of Differential Equations*.

### List of Conferences

 Chandra, E.W., "Time Global Bounds for System of Partial Differential Equations with Ambrosetti-Rabinowitz Nonlinearity", The 18th Mathematics Conference for Young Researchers (Hokkaido University), March 7 (2022), Online (ZOOM).

- 2. Chandra, E.W. and Ishiwata, M., "Time global bounds for global solutions of parabolic systems", RIMS Research Meeting 2021 (Kyoto University), October 7 (2021), Online (ZOOM).
- Chandra, E.W., Ishiwata, M., Magnanini, R., Wadade, H., "Variational *p*-harmonious functions: existence and convergence to *p*-harmonic functions", 2021 The Mathematical Society of Japan AUTUMN MEETING (Chiba University), September 15 (2021), Online (ZOOM).